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HigHligHtS in 2006

GooD results
Kitron posted its best operating result since the group was founded in 2000. After 
falling for several years sales increased in 2006 and closed the year seven per cent 
up on 2005. the group is making progress in a period of positive development for 
the industry as a whole. this is expected to provide Kitron with a high degree of 
stability in the future.

robust inCominG orDers
incoming orders rose by 18 per cent in 2006 and helped to achieve a year-end 
order backlog figure that was 23 per cent higher than at the end of the previous 
year, which was also Kitron’s highest order backlog figure for six years. 

simplifieD struCture
All manufacturing for Kitron’s norwegian eMS business is performed at one site 
– at Hisøy in Arendal. the structural changes implemented have enabled the 
company to utilise resources more efficiently and thus establish a lower cost base. 
Kitron is continually considering ways to make further operational improvements.

proDuCtion line for prototypes
the company has established its own prototype production line at the Arendal 
site in order to provide the group with a better position from which to meet the 
market’s increased demand for prototype production.

new environmental stanDarD introDuCeD
the eu requirements relating to the reduction of hazardous waste came into 
effect in July. Kitron has made a series of adjustments to its manufacturing 
processes in order to satisfy the new environmental requirements relating to the 
manufacture of electronic products. 

new presiDent anD Ceo
Jørgen Bredesen took over as president and Ceo of Kitron in May. He has more 
than 20 years’ international experience within telecommunications and it, and a 
wide range of management experience gained in the fields of sales, marketing, 
development and production. 

finanCial CalenDar 2007

8 May Q1 2007 interim report 

8 May 2007 Annual general meeting

16 August Q2 2007 interim report

26 october Q3 2007 interim report 

7 February 2008 Q4 2007 interim report and provisional annual result for 2007



 

HigHligHtS in 2006 Key FigureS

�

(Amounts in noK million) 2006 2005 2004

 
orDers anD results

order intake 1 872  1 593  1 722 

order backlog at 31 December 959  781  764 

operating revenues 1 69�.6 1 576.3 1 748.0

gross margin 40.0% 40.0% 39.2%

eBitDA 9�.8 4.3 (15.0)

profit before tax 45.4 (58.2) (71.8)

Dividend per share (noK) 0.24 (0.39) (0.57)

balanCe

equity at 31 Desember 185.7 144.5 128.1

equity ratio at 31 December 19.4% 22.1% 21.0%

interest-bearing debt at 31 December �24.� 52.6 33.5

Aggregated capital at 31 December 957.5 652.5 610.8

share

Share price at 31 December (noK) 4.95 2.92 2.79

Average number of shares 172 961 625 151 599 225  131 645 503 

number of shares at 31 December 172 961 625 172 961 625  134 634 325 

employees

number of employees at 31 December 1 �00  1 282  1 333 

number of full time equivalents  
at 31 December

1 279  1 200  1 250 

Sickness absence 5.1% 5.9% 6.2%
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■ Norway ■ Lithuania ■ Sweden

23%
55%

22%

REVENUE
BY GEOGRAPHICAL AREA

■ Norway ■ Rest of Europe 
■ Sweden ■ USA ■ Other 

45%

46% 3.5%

3.5% 2%

REVENUE
BY MARKET SEGMENT

■ Defence/Marine ■ Medical Equipment 
■ Data/Telecom ■ Industry

26%
25%

25%

24%

1550

1600

1650

1700

1750

1800

1850

2006200520042003

REVENUE
NOK million

400

450

500

550

600

650

700

2006200520042003

OPERATING EXPENCES
NOK million

38.0%

38.5%

39.0%

39.5%

40.0%

40.5%

41.0%

2006200520042003

GROSS MARGIN 



Ability to deliver And AccurAcy of delivery
Kitron is one of Scandinavia’s leading companies within the develop-
ment, industrialisation and production of tailored electronics manu-
factured for incorporation in customers’ products, as well as finished 
products that contain electronic components. the company’s ability 
to deliver and delivery quality, together with competitive prices, all con-
tribute to customer success.

Confidence in quality and the ability to deliver are important rea-
sons why customers choose Kitron. expertise and quality permeate 
services in the whole process from industrialisation and manufacture 
to assembly and final testing of finished products ready to be trans-
ported directly to the end customer. our company is also characterised 
by many years of experience and high levels of flexibility.

A total staff of 1 300 are employed in Kitron’s development and 
manufacturing business at six plants in norway, Sweden and lithua-
nia. Close collaboration between the units in Kitron provides the com-
pany with a competitive advantage. the group has two business areas 
– electronics Manufacturing Services, (eMS) and Microelectronics, 
and the company focuses primarily on the Defence/Marine, industry, 
Data/telecom and Medical equipment market segments.

 
flexible turnkey supplier
Kitron’s services range from development and design, through indus-
trialisation, sourcing and logistics, to manufacturing, redesign and 
upgrading of products in order to extend their useful life in the market. 
Kitron endeavours to achieve as near seamless an integration as pos-
sible with customers and suppliers.

Kitron is working to further enhance its competitiveness by expand-
ing its range of services in those parts of the value chain that demand 
high expertise levels. the group is also constantly striving to optimise 
the sourcing function, product mix and logistics in order to reduce its 
cost base.

Kitron is listed on the oslo Stock exchange.

Kitron in BrieF
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employees – GeoGrAphic distribution 

norway Sweden lithuania  total

employees at 31 December 2005 791 287 204 1 282
Changes (86) 15 89 18
employees at 31 December 2006 705 302 293 1 300



vision anD business ConCept
vision
Kitron will be the leading provider of contract electronics 
manufacturing in Scandinavia and the natural choice for 
demanding customers.

business concept
Kitron will strengthen the competitiveness of its cus-
tomers by offering services for products containing 
electronics across the whole value chain. 

Kitron’s history

Kitron has its origin from the companies Stratonic and a 
department of electric Bureau, both of which were estab-
lished in the 1960’s in Arendal. 

the Kitron name was established in the 1970’s, and 
Kitron’s business idea changed to contract production of 
electronics.

Kitron was listed on the stock exchange in oslo in 
1997. in order to strengthen its market position and com-
petence, Kitron has carried out several mergers and acqui-
sitions, i.e. Sonec ASA and Kitron ASA merged in 2000. 
today Kitron consists of businesses that have their ori-
gin in ericsson, Kongsberg gruppen, nera and tandberg 
Data in norway, in addition to Bofors and Saab in Sweden. 
Kitron bought uAB Kitron in lithuania in 2001. 
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Kitron is organised as a group with a number of common functions and two busi-
ness areas. the subsidiary Kitron Sourcing AS performs sourcing activities for the 
whole group. its remit is to secure the best possible prices and delivery terms for raw 
materials and components for the group at all times. the company also focuses 
on quality assurance of supplier delivery performance, along with logistics solutions 
and quality.

the group also has a development unit that supplies services within the areas 
of industrialisation, component technology and durability testing. the services are 
integrated into the production units, primarily within the eMS business, but also 
increasingly within Microelectronics.

electronic mAnufActurinG services (ems)
Kitron’s services for contract electronics manufacturing account for around 85 per 
cent of the group’s sales. the subsidiaries Kitron AB, Kitron AS and uAB Kitron are 
included in this business area.

the services embrace more than production. geographical proximity plays a cru-
cial role in the customer’s choice of supplier for most of these processes. Kitron has 
an advantage here in its geographical markets.

A growing proportion of customers are transferring responsibility for an increas-
ing part of the value chain to Kitron. integrated sourcing, high-level assembly (HlA) 
and fi nal testing of fi nished products are among the roles performed by the group. 
For the customer this means increased fl exibility, reduced costs and increased assur-
ance of effi ciency, price-competitiveness and accuracy of delivery.

microelectronics
the Microelectronics business area, represented by Kitron Microelectronics AS and 
Kitron Microelectronics AB, accounts for 15 per cent of the Kitron group’s sales.

Kitron Microelectronics develops and manufactures demanding and robust tech-
nology solutions within a number of application areas, ranging from lighting and 
vehicle on-board units to control systems for the defence forces and the car indus-
try. the business is characterised by high demands for products’ technical perform-
ance and the ability to withstand external stresses, along with production fl exibility 
and rapid production adaptability.

Kitron Microelectronics offers development, industrialisation and production of 
electronic modules based on thick-fi lm and high frequency microwave technologies. 
Microelectronics differs from conventional electronics in the connection techniques 
employed. the business represents an important focus area for Kitron. Microelec-
tronics generates higher profi tability levels than eMS production.

Kitron’s experience, expertise and well established customer relations also pro-
vide the company with a competitive edge in this business area. Most of the growth 
in this market is taking place in the Data/telecom and industry segments.

business areas
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  defence/mArine

Defence/Marine was Kitron’s largest 
market segment in both 2006 and 2005. 
At noK 431 million the segment con-
tributed 25 per cent of total group sales. 
in 2005 sales for the segment amounted 
to noK 450 million, which corresponds 
to 29 per cent of total group sales.

Kitron is a leading contract manufac-
turer for the defence industry and has a 
limited number of competitors in Scan-
dinavia. Kitron has long-standing and 
strong relations with its customers in 
this segment.

Activity levels in the defence sector 
in 2006 were lower than in the previ-
ous year. Business in the marine sector 
increased during the year on the back of 
high activity levels within shipping and 
offshore oil business. the maritime sec-
tor represents a growth area for Kitron, 
particularly within monitoring and con-
trol systems for ships, and services to 
the offshore industry.

marKet seGments

  dAtA/telecom

At noK 421 million sales in the Data/
telecom segment contributed 25 per 
cent of total group sales in 2006. in 
2005 sales totalled noK 422 million, 
which represents 27 per cent of group 
sales. the loss of two major customers 
in 2006, who relocated their production 
facilities to Asia, was to a large extent 
offset by growth with other and new 
customers. the segment is experienc-
ing rapid growth.

Customers value geographical prox-
imity to suppliers, in particular with 
regard to industrialisation processes 
and development work. Kitron is well 
positioned in this segment. 

  medicAl equipment

Sales in the Medical equipment seg-
ment increased by 20 per cent in 2006 
to noK 413 million and thus contrib-
uted 24 per cent of group sales. in 2005 
sales in this segment totalled noK 344 
million, which corresponds to 22 per 
cent of Kitron’s total sales. the market 
for medical equipment is growing, and 
Kitron has maintained its market share. 

With a number of new contracts 
secured and deliveries completed dur-
ing the year, Kitron has confirmed its 
ability to deliver high-level assembly 
assignments. the trend for customers 
to require contract manufacturers to 
assume full responsibility for supplying 
finished products is continuing. Kitron 
strengthened its position within HlA 
work in 2006.
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  industry

At noK 428 million, sales in the indus-
try segment accounted for 25 per cent 
of Kitron’s total sales in 2006. in 2005 
sales amounted to noK 359 million, 
which corresponds to 23 per cent of 
group sales. the segment is character-
ised by stability and continuity in cus-
tomer relations. Kitron actively partici-
pates in product renewals and expand-
ing production ranges.

increased production in lithuania 
and a better product mix has opened 
the way for increased sales within the 
market segment. Kitron believes it is 
well positioned to increase its market 
share in this segment.

9

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

200620052004
18%

20%

22%

24%

26%

28%

30%

REVENUE 
INDUSTRY
■ Revenue in NOK million
■ Share of total revenue 



10



After nearly a year as Kitron’s president 
and Ceo, i am encouraged by all the 
expertise our employees possess, and i 
am continually impressed by the deter-
mination they show to implement the 
necessary measures.

We are growing, and all the evidence 
available suggests that the growth will 
continue within all our market segments 
in the coming years. this is underlined 
by high activity levels connected with 
new products among all our major cus-
tomers. in norway we are growing inter-
nationally together with our customers, 
and the combination with the offer from 
the business in lithuania has delivered 
excellent results. the market in Sweden 
is three to four times as large as the 
norwegian market. this offers major 
opportunities. We are therefore actively 
focusing on Sweden, and as i write we 
are recruiting a significant number of 
new employees within sales and market-
ing. increased interest from germany 
and the united Kingdom directly to our 
business in lithuania confirms further 
opportunities for growth. 

We are continuing the positive devel-
opment within microelectronics, and 
new customers from the car industry 
show that Kitron’s technology is com-
petitive on the international stage.

further improvement
However, growth alone will not be 
enough to achieve our targets or our 
customers’ requirements from us as a 
development partner and supplier. prof-
itability is arguably equally important 
and in this area we have implemented 
a series of measures that will generate 
results throughout 2007. 

the establishment of our own sourc-
ing organisation in China within the first 
six months of 2007 shows that we are 
taking sourcing seriously. At the end of 

the day, materials account for 60 per-
cent of our total costs, and we are con-
fident that we will be able to realize a 
major savings potential in this area. 

An improved composition of prod-
ucts and customers in the factories, 
combined with measures that will result 
in higher efficiency levels, are other 
areas we will give a high priority.

quAlity in All AreAs
We have many skilful engineers and we 
see a demand for development serv-
ices that can bring new products more 
quickly from our customers out on the 
market. By becoming more professional 
as a turnkey supplier and meeting or 
surpassing our customers’ expectations, 
Kitron will more easily obtain accept-
ance for improved profitability.

the correct capacity in relation to 
demand in the market is important for 
Kitron, and we plan to meet this in the 
form of improved efficiency and better 
capacity utilisation in norway and Swe-
den and increased capacity in lithuania.

developinG employees
in other words, we see exciting growth 
opportunities and are making demands 
for improved profitability. this demands 
a focus on Kitron’s most important asset 
– the employees – and we will now focus 
better on training and development of 
our people to be able to meet new and 
more stringent requirements from both 
existing and new customers.

the opportunities are many, and 
we are looking forward to an exciting 
2007!

Jørgen Bredesen
president and Ceo
Kitron ASA

a worD from the Ceo:

exCiting poSSiBilitieS

thanks to a major commitment from all the company’s 
employees, Kitron can now look back on 2006 with an 
acceptable result. Several years of losses and restruc-
turing are now behind us. We now intend to focus the 
possibilities for further improvements.

  « We are growing, and all 
the evidence available 
suggests that the growth 
will continue within all 
our market segments in 
the coming years.»
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Kitron’s business concept is to offer 
services within development, design, 
industrialisation and electronics manu-
facturing for industrial players. the com-
pany’s head office is located at lysaker, 
outside oslo, norway. the company 
has operations in norway, Sweden and 
lithuania. All the units employ highly 
qualified staff and all production is cer-
tified in accordance with international 
quality standards.

the group’s activities are split into 
two business areas:

Kitron electronic Manufacturing 
Services (eMS) offers a wide spectrum 
of services relating to electronics manu-
facturing. Many years’ experience and 
high levels of expertise in all areas of the 
value chain, together with high levels of 
flexibility and modern equipment, secure 
high supply quality. efficient processes, 
effective sourcing and low-cost manu-
facturing guarantee competitiveness. 
Kitron also offers excellent logistics 
solutions, and in many cases the group 
supplies complete products ready for 
delivery to end customers.

Kitron Microelectronics offers devel-
opment, industrialisation and produc-
tion of electronic modules based on 
thick-film and high frequency micro-
wave technologies. the market for this 
type of supply represents an important 
focus area for Kitron. Microelectronics 
differs from conventional electronics in 
the connection techniques employed.

mArket seGments
Kitron’s activities are characterised by 
complex manufacturing processes and a 
high level of specialised expertise. Kitron 
has chosen to focus on sales and market-
ing activities within the Defence/Marine, 
Data/telecom, Medical equipment and 
industry market segments. Following 
increases in sales shares in the Medi-

cal equipment and industry segments in 
recent years, all four market segments 
now contribute an almost equal propor-
tion of overall sales, which has resulted 
in less exposure and reduced market risk 
for the group as a whole. 

defence/marine
Defence/Marine remained Kitron’s larg-
est segment in 2006. At noK 431.1 
million, segment sales for 2006 were 
slightly down on the corresponding 
prior-year figure of 450.3 million, and 
accounted for 25.5 per cent of group 
sales (28.6 per cent). Despite the reduc-
tion in activity levels in 2006 compared 
with previous years, business levels are 
expected to pick up again in 2007.

data/telecom
At noK 420.8 million, sales in the Data/
telecom segment in 2006 were almost 
unchanged from 2005 (noK 422.4 mil-
lion), and contributed 24.8 per cent of 
group sales (26.8 per cent). the loss of 
two important customers in 2006, who 
relocated their production facilities to 
Asia, was largely offset by growth in 
business with other and new custom-
ers. the segment is experiencing rapid 
growth.

medical equipment
Sales in the Medical equipment seg-
ment increased from noK 344.4 million 
in 2005 to noK 413.3 million in 2006, 
corresponding to 24.4 per cent of group 
sales (21.8 per cent).

industry
Sales in the industry segment totalled 
noK 428.2 million in 2006 (noK 359.3 
million), corresponding to 25.3 per cent 
of group sales (22.8 per cent). Kitron 
believes it is well positioned to increase 
its market share in this segment.

importAnt events in 2006
high activity levels
All of Kitron’s business areas experi-
enced generally high levels of activ-
ity throughout 2006. this situation is 
expected to continue in 2007. the posi-
tive development in incoming orders 
and order backlog supports such an 
assumption.

implementation of restructuring 
measures
Kitron implemented the restructuring 
measures that had been resolved for 
the norwegian eMS business in autumn 
2005 throughout the whole of 2006. Sig-
nificant resources were invested in this 
work, in particular during the first half 
of 2006. production activities in Kilsund 
and Hisøy were merged at Hisoey. in the 
first quarter of 2006 the manufacturing 
unit in oslo was closed, and production 
was transferred to uAB Kitron in lithua-
nia and other factories in the group. the 
merger and closure affected a total of 
around 100 man-years. 

the above measures were necessary 
to secure the group’s future profitability, 
and have already delivered the planned 
results. At the end of the year, the units 
were operating on a stable and efficient 
basis. the board of directors expects 
that the units will make further improve-
ments in the future as a result of ongo-
ing initiatives designed to increase pro-
ductivity and quality.

new president and ceo
Jan t. Jørgensen stepped down as 
president and Ceo in the middle of May 
2006. the board would like to thank Jør-
gensen for his contribution as president 
and Ceo of Kitron during a period of 
major reorganisation. 

Jørgen Bredesen assumed the office 
of president and Ceo on 18 May 2006. 

groWtH AnD proFitABility 
A number of targeted marketing and restructuring measures implemented over 
the course of the last few years bore fruit in 2006. Sales increased by seven 
per cent to noK 1 693.6 million, while eBitDA rose by noK 89.5 million, from 
noK 4.3 million in 2005 to noK 93.8 million in 2006.

Board of director’s report 2006
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Bredesen has more than 20 years’ expe-
rience within telecommunications and 
it and has wide-ranging management 
experience in sales and marketing, 
development and production in interna-
tional companies.

finAnciAl stAtements
the board believes that the annual 
financial statements provide a true and 
fair view of Kitron ASA’s and the group’s 
net assets, financial position and result 
for the year.

result for the year
operating revenue for 2006 amounted 
to noK 1 693.6 million, compared with 
noK 1 576.3 million in 2005, which rep-
resents an increase of 7.4 per cent. the 
increase in revenue is partly attributable 
to higher sales volumes with established 
customers in the norwegian business 
and partly the result of sales to new 
customers, in particular in the Swedish 
business. 2006 was also characterised 
by a growing trend for both new and 
existing customers to demand deliveries 
over a larger part of the value chain. 

revenue for the eMS business in 
2006 amounted to noK 1 413.8 million, 
an increase of 0.3 per cent compared 
with 2005. revenue was to some extent 
impacted by a temporary reduction in 
production capacity in the second quar-
ter as a result of the reorganisation of the 
norwegian business operations. Both the 
norwegian and the Swedish eMS busi-
ness experienced a strong increase in 
demand for production of prototypes in 
2006, a development that offers exciting 
possibilities for future contracts, but also 
results in a slight reduction in ordinary 
production capacity. 

Kitron Microelectronics’ revenue rose 
by 48 per cent in 2006. the increase 
is attributable to a number of factors 

including favourable marketing condi-
tions in 2006.

Kitron eMS accounted for 83.5 
per cent of operating revenue in 2006 
(89.5), while Kitron Microelectronics 
contributed 17.1 per cent (12.4) and 
other companies and intra-group trans-
actions contributed -0.6 per cent (-1.9). 
At the end of 2006, the group’s order 
backlog totalled noK 959 million, com-
pared with noK 781 million at the end 
of 2005. Kitron’s total incoming orders 
in 2006 amounted to noK 1 872 mil-
lion, compared with noK 1 593 million 
in 2005. the strong order growth of 17.5 
per cent in 2006 reflects the significant 
success of Kitron’s marketing initiatives 
focusing on establishing customer loy-
alty with existing customers and acquir-
ing new customers. 

the gross margin for 2006 was 40.0 
per cent, which equals the gross mar-
gin in 2005. year-on-year gross margins 
were generally stable per product cate-
gory. Kitron aims to maintain or improve 
the gross margin via a series of strate-
gic initiatives in the group’s sourcing 
function in both the subsidiary Kitron 
Sourcing and in the factories, as well 
as by implementing ongoing productiv-
ity improvements. the Microelectronics 
business area, which generates a higher 
gross margin than eMS, is contributing 
a growing share of Kitron’s sales. How-
ever, service sales, which generate a 
100 per cent gross margin, fell in 2006.

the number of man-years increased 
from 1 200 at the end of 2005 to 1 279 
at the end of 2006. However, the 
group’s payroll expenses decreased, 
falling from noK 475.3 million in 2005 
to noK 466.0 million in 2006. pay-
roll expenses for 2005 include payroll-
related restructuring costs. Staffing lev-
els at uAB Kitron and Kitron Microelec-
tronics increased during the year in line 

with increased activity levels, while the 
headcount fell in the norwegian and 
Swedish eMS businesses. Higher activity 
levels in the second half of 2006 meant 
it was not necessary to reduce staffing 
levels in the norwegian business to the 
extent notified at the time the restruc-
turing measures were announced in 
autumn 2005.

the measures implemented in the 
norwegian eMS business have delivered 
the desired results and generated cost 
reductions from the second half of 2006. 
total costs excluding costs of goods sold 
and non-recurring costs, fell from noK 
615.9 million in 2005 to noK 601.6 mil-
lion in 2006. However, the reduction in 
costs was partly offset by higher activ-
ity levels within the group. Kitron posted 
an operating profit of noK 64.4 million, 
compared with an operating loss of noK 
34.4 million in 2005. 

Kitron performs contract-based 
development and industrialisation activ-
ities for its customers. Kitron bears part 
of the costs of the actual development 
work in individual cases where projects 
are expected to provide a return once 
the customer starts profitable manu-
facturing in the next phase. the com-
pany’s own research and development 
work is limited and relates primarily to 
establishing and performing measures 
that increase productivity, expertise and 
quality. Kitron has recorded noK 0.8 
million in the profit and loss account of 
the Skattefunn tax deduction scheme in 
2006. two projects were completed dur-
ing the year, while one project is con-
tinuing in 2007. 

the group’s net financial expense fell 
from noK 23.9 million in 2005 to noK 
19.0 million in 2006. the improvement 
is attributable to lower interest-bearing 
debt and lower foreign exchange losses 
in 2006 than in 2005. 
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Kitron posted a profit before tax of 
noK 45.4 million in 2006, compared 
with a loss before tax of noK 58.2 mil-
lion in 2005. the group’s tax expense 
in 2006 was noK 3.8 million, compared 
with a tax expense of noK 0.7 million in 
2005. the tax expense for 2006 relates 
to operations in lithuania. the busi-
nesses in norway and Sweden have sig-
nificant tax loss carryforwards. Kitron 
made no adjustments to the deferred 
tax asset recognised in 2006.

the group recorded a profit for the 
year of noK 41.7 million (loss of noK 
58.9 million). this corresponds to earn-
ings per share figures of noK 0.24 and 
noK -0.39, respectively. Diluted earn-
ings per share were the same as basic 
earnings per share. 

cash flow
the cash flow from operating activities 
was noK 9.6 million in 2006 (noK 9.4 
million). the modest cash flow is prima-
rily attributable to the increased working 
capital required to support higher activ-
ity levels. the difference between the 
cash flow from operating activities and 
the operating result is primarily attribut-
able to an increase in inventories. 

the net cash flow from invest-
ing activities in 2006 amounted to  
noK -45.4 million (noK -39.5 million). 
investments mainly relate to renewals of 
machinery and equipment. Kitron nor-
mally uses finance leases for suitable 
investments.

the net cash flow from financ-
ing activities was noK -11.8 mil-
lion (noK 92.0 million). long-term 
debt totalling noK 14.0 million was 
repaid during 2006. in 2005 Kitron 
made two issues that raised a net 
total of noK 90.8 million in equity 
for the parent company. there were 
no issues in 2006.

bAlAnce sheet And liquidity
total assets at 31 December 2006 
amounted to noK 957.5 million (noK 
652.5 million), while equity totalled 
noK 185.7 million (noK 144.5 million) 
and the equity ratio was 19.1 per cent 
(22.1 per cent). 

inventories increased by noK 40.4 
million during 2006 and totalled noK 
282.9 million at the end of the year 
(noK 242.5 million). the increase in 
inventories is attributable to higher pro-
duction activities at the end of 2006 
compared with twelve months previ-
ously. Accounts receivable were noK 
365.3 million at the balance sheet 
date (noK 90.4 million). the market 
increase is primarily attributable to the 
fact that the group introduced a con-
ventional factoring arrangement in 
2006, under which accounts receiva-
ble are mortgaged and still recognised 
in the balance sheet. under the previ-
ous arrangement accounts receivable 
were sold off from the balance sheet. 
Sales of accounts receivable totalled 
noK 208.0 million at 31 December 
2005. the new arrangement resulted in 
an increase in the group’s total assets, 
and thus a reduction in the equity ratio. 
However, the change had no impact on 
the size of the group’s equity. the new 
arrangement was cash flow-neutral and 
is expected to result in lower finance 
expenses. 

At 31 December 2006, the group’s 
interest-bearing debt was noK 324.5 
million (noK 52.6 million).

Cash and cash equivalents amounted 
to noK 98.3 million at the balance 
sheet date (noK 113.2 million). noK 
18.9 million of this amount related to 
locked-in funds (noK 28.5 million). the 
group’s liquidity situation is satisfac-
tory.

GoinG concern
there have been no events to date in 
2007 that affect the result for 2006 or 
valuation of the company’s net assets 
at the balance sheet date. the board 
confirms that the conditions required for 
the assumption of a going concern basis 
have been satisfied and that the finan-
cial statements have been prepared on 
the basis of this assumption.

finAnciAl mArket risk
the group is exposed to financial 
risk in the course of its activities. the 
company’s supervisory routines for risk 
management focus on unpredictable 
aspects of the financial markets and 
endeavours to minimise potential nega-
tive effects resulting from the compa-
ny’s financial transactions.

the group is affected by exchange 
rate fluctuations as a significant share 
of its goods and services are sold in for-
eign currency. At the same time, raw 
materials are purchased in foreign cur-
rency, while the foreign units’ operating 
costs are incurred the units’ local cur-
rency. exchange-rate gains and losses 
only arise in the period in which an asset 
denominated in a foreign currency is 
 recognised. A larger portion of revenue 
than costs is recognised in noK and 
SeK. However, revenue and costs in for-
eign currencies are largely balanced in 
such a way that the net exchange rate 
risk is small. the group does not enter 
into significant hedging arrangements 
other than agreements with custom-
ers that allow Kitron to adjust the sell-
ing price when the actual exchange rate 
on the purchase of raw materials signifi-
cantly deviates from the agreed base 
rate. it would be extremely complicated 
and relatively expensive to implement 
effective long-term currency hedging 
of the company’s revenue flows. Com-
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petitively, appreciation of Kitron’s local 
currencies represents an advantage for 
competitors with a cost base in foreign 
currency. the effect of foreign exchange 
rates can be both amplified and dimin-
ished by different inflation rates.

the company is exposed to price 
risk in that raw materials follow interna-
tional market prices for electronic and 
mechanical components, and in that 
the company’s goods and services are 
exposed to price pressure. 

Credit risks are hedged for the major-
ity of the company’s customers under 
the terms of the company’s factoring 
agreement. the company is therefore 
only exposed to a credit risk in respect 
of customers where the credit risk is not 
hedged. Historically, Kitron’s bad debt 
losses have been low.

Kitron’s liabilities are primarily short-
term and relate to the factoring-based 
financing of accounts receivable. this 
means that fluctuations in sales impact 
the company’s liquidity. the group has 
overdraft facilities that cover expected 
liquidity fluctuations during the year.

interest is charged on the group’s 
interest-bearing liabilities at the market-
based rate for noK. Kitron has no inter-
est rate instruments. the group holds 
no material interest-bearing assets.

the board regards the group’s future 
liquidity as satisfactory. However, a very 
small share of the external capital is 
long-term. the board intends to expand 
the group’s capital base and increase 
the share of long-term financing to 
secure growth opportunities and trading 
manoeuvrability in 2007.

heAlth, sAfety And 
environment
At 31 December 2006 the group 
employed a total of 1 300 staff (1 279 
man-years). the figures include tempo-

rary employees and are not reduced for 
sickness absence. the board would like 
to thank all employees for the commit-
ment, flexibility and quality-awareness 
they have shown in connection with 
ongoing manufacturing activities and 
the reorganisation measures that have 
been implemented. the expertise and 
productivity of employees represent a 
major asset and competitive advantage 
for Kitron.

there were no serious work-related 
accidents or injuries among employees 
in 2006. Sickness absence in Kitron fell 
from 5.9 per cent in 2005 to 5.1 per cent 
in 2006. to help create a better working 
environment and further reduce sickness 
absence, Kitron’s norwegian operations 
have entered into inclusive workplace 
agreements (iA) with the employees. 
this work will continue in the future. the 
board believes the company provides a 
good working environment and has not 
found it necessary to implement any spe-
cial measures in this regard.

in 2006 Kitron implemented the nec-
essary adjustments to satisfy the eu 
Directive on the reduction of Hazard-
ous Substances (roHS) 2002/95/eC).

Kitron does not pollute the external 
environment to any notable extent. Sev-
eral of the group’s production units are 
certified in accordance with the nS iSo 
14000 series of environmental manage-
ment standards.

equAl opportunities
the group’s basic view is that women 
and men should have the same oppor-
tunities for work and career develop-
ment at Kitron. the company’s fac-
tory-based manufacturing operations 
have traditionally employed a higher 
proportion of women. Women contrib-
uted 49.9 per cent of total man-years in 
Kitron in 2006, and accounted for 56.3 

per cent of the group’s 939 man-years 
that worked directly in manufacturing, 
and 32.2 per cent of the 340 man-years 
in other indirect functions. 

the average pay of women working 
directly in manufacturing in norwegian 
and Swedish companies was approxi-
mately 86 percent of the average pay 
for men. A high per centage of the 
employees in these categories are union 
members, whose pay is established in 
line with collective wage agreements. 
the collective wage rates are linked to 
skills and service years. the collective 
wage rates can vary between the vari-
ous subsidiaries, but not on the basis of 
gender. 

other indirect functions include man-
agement employees, staff and other 
support functions. the clear major-
ity of employees in corporate and com-
pany managements are currently male, 
though women are represented both in 
the corporate management team and in 
several of the local management teams. 

no gender-based differences exist 
with regard to working hour regulations 
or the design of workplaces.

none of the six board members 
elected by the shareholders are women. 
one of the three employee representa-
tives is a woman. this corresponds to a 
female representation of 11 per cent on 
the board. 

corporAte GovernAnce
the Kitron board has adopted principles 
for corporate governance designed to 
safeguard the interests of the company’s 
owners, employees and other stakehold-
ers. these principles and associated 
regulations and routines are intended to 
create increased planning certainty and 
transparency, and thus reduce uncer-
tainties connected with the business. 
the board endeavours to have guide-
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lines that comply with norwegian recom-
mendations for corporate governance. 
the annual declaration of compliance is 
included in the annual report.

outlook
to allow Kitron to secure its share of 
future market growth, marketing work 
will increasingly be performed on a 
group-wide basis, and is thus expected 
to contribute to improved capacity uti-
lisation. A very solid order book is also 
expected to contribute to positive devel-
opments in the future.

the full effect of the reorganisation 
measures of the norwegian eMS opera-
tion was achieved from the second half 
of 2006. the reduced cost base will 
make a positive contribution to future 
profitability. in the opinion of the board, 
Kitron’s norwegian operations now 
have increased flexibility and a blend of 
resources and skills that is suited to the 
market in the future.

Kitron is implementing several minor 
capacity adjustments and organisa-

tional changes in Sweden in 2007. 
industrialisation activities will be more 
closely linked with manufacturing envi-
ronments in the factories and capacity 
in the development business is being 
reduced in line with demand for these 
services. At the same time, the Swedish 
sales and marketing apparatus is being 
reinforced. the combined effect of 
these measures will be a net reduction 
of 30 man-years during 2007. no signif-
icant additional costs will be incurred in 
2007 in connection with the implemen-
tation of these changes.

the main markets will continue to 
be norway and Sweden, and a contin-
ued commitment to lithuania is impor-
tant in this context in order to secure 
the company’s competitiveness. Kitron 
will establish a sourcing unit in China in 
2007 to reinforce the company’s posi-
tioning.

experience shows that activity lev-
els and sales vary between quarters, 
and this trend is expected to continue 
in 2007. the board expects to make a 

profit for 2007 as a whole. However, 
the board also emphasises that assess-
ments of future conditions always 
involve an element of uncertainty.

the eMS industry has shown low 
profitability levels for several years, and 
this has also been a feature of Kitron’s 
results. the industry is now in a growth 
period that is expected to last several 
years. the above are expected to con-
tribute to restructuring and consolida-
tion within the sector. the group will 
participate in the changes that are hap-
pening in the sector as and when this is 
expedient for Kitron and its sharehold-
ers. 

pArent compAny’s loss for 
the yeAr And AllocAtion
Kitron ASA recorded a net loss of noK 
4 480 177 in 2006. the board proposes 
that the loss of the year be covered 
by a transfer from the share premium 
account. no dividend is proposed for 
2006. the company had no free equity 
at 31 December 2006.

oslo, 22 March 2007

Carl espen Wollebekk
Chairman

Arne Solberg
Deputy chairman 

Kjell erik Almskog
Board member

nerijus Dagilis
Board member

ian Hague 
Board member

titas Sereika
Board member

preben Jensen
employee representative

liv Johansen
employee representative

leif Henriksen
employee representative

Jørgen Bredesen
president and Ceo 
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(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005 2004

revenue
Sales revenues 6 1 69� 559 1 576 341 1 748 047
 
operating costs 
Cost of materials 1 015 7�9 945 342 1 062 104
payroll expenses 8,9 466 04� 475 273 528 185
Depreciation and impairments 10,11 29 �87 38 675 38 227
other operating expenses 117 942 151 410 172 802
total operating costs 1 629 111 1 610 700 1 801 318

operating profit/(loss) 64 448 (34 359) (53 271)

financial income and expenses 
net financial items 21 (19 009) (23 854) (18 529)

profit/(loss) before tax 45 4�9 (58 213) (71 800)
tax 16 � 76� 726 2 007

net profit/(loss) 41 676 (58 939) (73 807)

allocation
Shareholders 41 676 (58 939) (75 191)
Minority share 1 384

earnings per share for that part of of the net profit/(loss) allocated to the company’s shareholders

(noK per share)
earnings per share 0.24 (0.39) (0.57)
Diluted earnings per share 0.24 (0.39) (0.57)

ConSoliDAteD  
proFit AnD loSS ACCount
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ConSoliDAteD BAlAnCe SHeet  
At 31 DeCeMBer

(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005

Assets

fixed assets
goodwill 11  19 12�  18 489 
tangible fixed assets 10 12� 52�  112 447 
investment in shares 18  41  190 
Deferred tax assets 17  20 000  20 000 
other receivables 12  2 920  3 855 
total fixed assets  165 607  154 981 

Current assets
inventory 7  282 891  242 542 
Accounts receivable and other 
receivables 12  410 768  141 771 
Cash and cash equivalents 23  98 264  113 229 
total current assets  791 92�  497 542 

total assets  957 5�0  652 523 

(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005

liAbilities And equity

equity
equity allocated to shareholders
Share capital and share premium 
reserve 28 629 020 629 020 
other equity unrecognised in the 
profit and loss  (� 660) (3 204) 
retained earnings (4�9 661) (481 337)
total equity  185 699  144 479 

liabilities
long-term liabilities
loans 14, 22  �1 011  40 678 
pension commitments 9  2� 007  21 543 
other provisions 15  7 160  15 104 
total long-term liabilities  61 178  77 325 

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other current 
liabilities 13  �79 �79  350 577 
tax payable 16  4 242  370 
loans 14, 22  �24 �99  46 369 
other provisions 15  2 6��  33 403 
total current liabilities  710 65�  430 719 

total liabilities  771 8�1  508 044 

total liabilities and equity  957 5�0  652 523

oslo, 22 March 2007

Carl espen Wollebekk
Chairman

Arne Solberg
Deputy chairman 

Kjell erik Almskog
Board member

nerijus Dagilis
Board member

ian Hague 
Board member

titas Sereika
Board member

preben Jensen
employee representative

liv Johansen
employee representative

leif Henriksen
employee representative

Jørgen Bredesen
president and Ceo 
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CHAngeS in 
ConSoliDAteD eQuity 

Allocated to shareholders
Minority 
interests

total

(Amounts in noK 1000) note

Share capital 
and share 
 premium 

reserve
other equity 

unrecognised
retained 
 earnings

equity at 1 January 2005 31 533 423 (2 155) (422 398) 12 558 121 428

Conversion differencies - (1 049) - - (1 049)
net loss - - (58 939) - (58 9�9)
equity provided through employee options 4 837 - - - 4 8�7
new shares issued 95 240 - - - 95 240
issue costs (4 480) - - - (4 480
Change in minority interest - - - (12 558) (12 558)

equity at 31 December 2005 629 020 (3 204) (481 337) - 144 479

equity at 1 January 2006 629 020 (3 204) (481 337) - 144 479

Conversion differencies - 3 863 - - -
net profit - - 41 676 - -
repayment of shareholders contribution - (4 319) - - -

equity at 31 December 2006 629 020 (3 660) (439 661) - 185 699

19



(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005

Cash flow from operational activities
Cash flow from operations 29 26 21� 24 580
interest (14 521) (13 009)
taxes (2 050) (2 204)
net cash flow from operational activities 9 642 9 367

Cash flow from investment activities
Aquisition of subsidiaries (4 954) (11 030)
Aquisition of tangible fixed assets 10 (40 462) (28 465)
net cash flow from investment activities (45 416) (39 495)

Cash flow from financing activities
proceeds from issuing ordinary shares - 90 760
proceeds from new loans 2 185 6 593
reapayment of loans (14 012) (4 342)
payment to minority interests - (1 030)
net cash flow from financing activities (11 827) 91 981

Change in cash and bank credit (47 601) 61 853
Cash and bank credit at 1 January 52 807 (9 046)
Cash and bank credit at 31 December 23 5 206 52 807

 

ConSoliDAteD 
CASH FloW StAteMent
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bAsic principles
the consolidated accounts for Kitron ASA 
have been prepared in accordance with “inter-
national Financial reporting Standards” (iFrS) 
as approved by the european union (eu).

the consolidated accounts have been pre-
pared in accordance with the historical cost 
convention.

preparing the accounts in accordance with 
the iFrS requires the use of estimates. Appli-
cation of the company’s accounting principles 
also means that the management must exer-
cise discretion. Areas where such discretionary 
assessments have been made to a particular 
extent or which have a high degree of com-
plexity, or where assumption and estimates 
are significant for the consolidated accounts, 
are described in note 4.

standards, interpretation and changes in 
existing standards which had not come into 
effect at �1 December 2006
Certain new standards, changes and inter-
pretations of existing standards have been 
published and will be obligatory for the group 
in 2007 or later. Standards, changes and 
interpretations of existing standards which 
could have been relevant for the consolidated 
accounts in 2006 have been assessed but not 
adopted. these are:

iFrS 7 Financial instruments; Disclosures, 
and a supplementary change in iAS 1, 
presentation of Financial Statements –  
capital disclosures (in force 1 January 
2007) 
iFriC 8, Scope of iFrS 2 (in force for 
accounting periods starting 1 May 2006 
or later)

■

■

iFriC 10 interim Financial reporting (in 
force for accounting periods starting 1 
november 2006 or later)

consolidAtion principles
subsidiaries
the consolidated accounts include the par-
ent company, Kitron ASA, and all its subsidi-
aries. Subsidiaries are all units in which the 
group has a controlling influence on the unit’s 
financial and operational strategy, normally 
through owning more than half the voting cap-
ital. When determining whether a controlling 
influence exists, the effect of potential voting 
rights which can be exercised or converted on 
the balance sheet date are taken into account. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the time 
when control transfers to the group, and de-
consolidated when the control ceases. 

the purchase method is used to consoli-
date acquired subsidiaries. the acquisition 
cost at the transaction date is attributed to the 
fair value of assets provided as consideration 
for the acquisition, equity instruments issued, 
liabilities incurred through the transfer of con-
trol and direct transaction costs. identifiable 
assets and debt acquired are recognised at 
their fair value at the transaction date, regard-
less of possible minority interests. transaction 
costs which exceed the fair value of identifi-
able net assets in the subsidiary are carried 
as goodwill. if the transaction costs are lower 
than the fair value of identifiable net assets 
in the subsidiary, the difference is recognised 
in the profit and loss account at the acquisi-
tion date.

intra-group transactions, balances and 
unrealised gains are eliminated. unrealised 

■ losses are eliminated, but are assessed as an 
indicator of impairment loss on the transferred 
asset. the accounting principles for subsidi-
aries have been amended to accord with the 
group’s principles.

transactions and minority interests
transactions with minority interests are treated 
as transactions with third parties. When shares 
in subsidiaries are sold to minority interests, the 
group’s gain or loss is recognised in the profit 
and loss account. When shares in subsidiaries 
are acquired from minority interests, goodwill 
will arise. this goodwill will be the difference 
between the consideration and the acquired 
share of the book equity in the subsidiary.

Associated companies
the group has no joint ventures or associated 
companies.

seGment reportinG
A business area is part of the business which 
delivers products or services exposed to risks 
and returns which differ from those of other 
business areas. A geographical market is part 
of the business which delivers products and 
services within a defined geographical area 
which is subject to risks and returns which dif-
fer from those in other geographical areas.

trAnslAtion of foreiGn 
currencies
functional and presentation currencies
the accounts of the individual units are com-
piled in the principal currency used in the 
economic area in which the unit operates 
(the functional currency). the consolidated 

noteS to tHe 
ConSoliDAteD ACCountS

note 1 General information

Kitron ASA and its subsidiaries (the group) comprise one of Scandinavia’s leading enterprises in the development, industrialisation and 
manufacturing of electronics for the data/telecom, defence/marine, medical equipment and industry segments. the group has operations in 
norway, Sweden and lithuania. Kitron ASA has its head office at lysaker outside oslo in norway and is listed on the oslo Stock exchange. 
the consolidated accounts were considered and approved by the company’s board of directors on 22 March 2007.

note 2 summary of the most siGnifiCant aCCountinG prinCiples

the most significant accounting principles applied in the preparation of the consolidated accounts are detailed below. these principles have 
been applied uniformly in all the periods unless otherwise stated.
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accounts are presented in noK, which is both 
the functional and the presentation currency 
for the parent company.

transaction and balance sheet items
transactions in foreign currency are translated 
to the functional currency at the exchange 
rate prevailing at the transaction date. Cur-
rency gains and losses which arise from the 
settlement of such transactions, and when 
translating monetary items (assets and liabili-
ties) in foreign currencies at 31 December at 
the exchange rate on the balance sheet date, 
are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Group companies
the profit and loss accounts and balance 
sheets for group units (none of which are 
affected by hyperinflation) in functional cur-
rencies which differ from the presentation cur-
rency are translated as follows:

the balance sheet is translated at the 
closing exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date
the profit and loss account is translated 
at the average exchange rate
translation differences are recognised 
directly in equity and specified separately

tAnGible fixed Assets
tangible fixed assets primarily embrace build-
ings and land, machinery, equipment, and 
fixtures and fittings. they also include leased 
buildings, machinery and equipment where the 
lease is considered to be a financing method 
(financial leasing). tangible fixed assets are 
stated at historical cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairments. they are rec-
ognised in the balance sheet and depreciated 
on a straight-line basis to their residual value 
over their expected useful life, which is:

Buildings   20-33 years
Machinery and  
operating equipment      3-10 years

land is not depreciated.
the useful life of fixed assets and their 

residual value are reassessed on every balance 
sheet date and amended if necessary. When 
the carrying amount of a fixed asset is higher 
than the estimated recoverable amount, 
the value is written down to the recoverable 
amount.

on-going maintenance of fixed assets is 
charged as an operating cost, which upgrad-
ing or improvements are added to the histori-
cal cost of the asset and depreciated accord-
ingly.

gain and loss on disposals is recognised 
in the profit and loss account as the differ-
ence between the sales price and the carrying 
amount.

Goodwill
goodwill is the difference between the acqui-
sition of a business and the fair value of the 
group’s share of net identifiable assets in the 
business at the acquisition date. goodwill is 
tested annually for impairment and recognised 
in the balance sheet at its acquisition cost less 
impairment charges. impairment losses on 
goodwill are not reversed.

■

■

■

When assessing the need to make an 
impairment charge on goodwill, the goodwill 
is allocated to relevant cash-generating units. 
the allocation is made to those cash-gener-
ating units or groups of such units which are 
expected to benefit from the acquisition. the 
group allocates goodwill to each business area 
in each country in which it operates.

impairment of non-financial assets  
(other than goodwill)
Assets considered to have an indefinite useful 
life and which are not depreciated are tested 
annually for possible impairment. Fixed assets 
subject to depreciation are tested for impair-
ment when conditions arise which indicate a 
fall in value. An impairment charge if recog-
nised in the profit and loss account as the dif-
ference between the carrying amount and the 
recoverable amount. the recoverable amount 
is the utility value.

When assessing impairment, fixed assets 
are grouped at the lowest level for which iden-
tifiable independent cash inflows exist (cash-
generating units). At each reporting date, an 
assessment is made of the opportunity for 
reversing earlier impairment charges on fixed 
assets.

finAnciAl Assets
the group classifies financial assets in the 
following categories based on the reason for 
acquiring the asset: loans and receivables and 
investment in shares. the management reas-
sess this classification of financial assets at 
each reporting date.

investment in shares
investment in shares is recognised at fair 
value. Since the group’s investment in shares 
for 2005 and 2006 consists solely of holdings 
in small companies which are not traded in an 
effective market, these holdings are recog-
nised at historical cost.

loans and receivables
loans and receivables are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed payments which are 
not traded in an active market. they are classi-
fied as current assets unless they mature more 
than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
When maturing more than 12 months after the 
balance sheet date, loans and receivables are 
classified as fixed assets. loans and receiva-
bles are classified as accounts receivable and 
other receivables in the balance sheet.

inventory
inventory comprises purchased raw materi-
als, work in progress and finished goods. it is 
stated at the lower of average acquisition cost 
and fair value (net realisable value). Acquisi-
tion cost for work in progress are direct mate-
rial costs and payroll expenses plus indirect 
costs (based on normal capacity).

Accounts receivAble 
Accounts receivable are recognised initially 
in the balance sheet at their fair value. pro-
vision for bad debts is recognised in the 
accounts when objective indicators suggest 
that the group will not receive a settlement in 
accordance with the original terms. Significant 
financial problems at the customer, the prob-

ability that the customer will go into liquida-
tion or undergo financial reconstruction, and 
postponements of or shortfalls in payment are 
regarded as indicators that a receivable needs 
to be written down. the provision represents 
the difference between the face value and 
the recoverable amount, which is the present 
value of expected cash flows discounted by 
the effective interest rate. Changes in the 
provision are recognised in the profit and loss 
account as other operating expenses.

A significant proportion of accounts are 
credit-insured as part of the company’s factor-
ing arrangement. See also note 5 for descrip-
tion of new factoring scheme from fourth 
quarter 2006.

cAsh And cAsh equivAlents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, 
deposits in ordinary bank accounts and 
undrawn overdraft facilities. Amounts drawn 
on overdraft facilities are included in loans 
under current liabilities.

shAre cApitAl
the share capital comprises the number of 
shares multiplied by their nominal value, and 
are classified as equity. expenses which can be 
attributed directly to the issue of new shares or 
options (less tax) are recognised in equity as a 
reduction in the proceeds received.

loAns
loans are recognised at their nominal amount 
when the loan is established. instalments fall-
ing due within one year of the balance sheet 
date are classified as current liabilities. instal-
ments falling due more than one year after the 
balance sheet date are classified as long-term 
liabilities.

deferred tAx
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability 
method on all temporary differences aris-
ing between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated accounts. if, however, deferred 
tax arises when initially recognising a liabil-
ity or asset in a transaction which is not the 
integration of a business and which at the 
transaction date has no effect on the profit 
and loss account or on tax, it is not recog-
nised. Deferred tax is determined using tax 
rates and laws which have been substantially 
enacted by the balance sheet date and are 
expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available, and that the temporary 
differences can be deducted from this profit. 

Deferred tax is calculated on temporary 
differences arising on investments in subsidiar-
ies, except where the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences is controlled by the 
group and it is probable that they will not be 
reversed in the foreseeable future.

pension commitments, 
bonus schemes And other 
compensAtion for employees
pension commitments
group companies have various pension 
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schemes. these schemes are generally 
funded through payments to insurance 
companies or pension funds on the basis of 
periodic actuarial calculations. the group 
has both defined contribution and defined 
benefit plans. A defined contribution plan is 
one under which the group pays fixed contri-
butions to a separate legal entity. the group 
has no legal or constructive obligations to 
pay further contributions if the fund does not 
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees 
the benefits relating to employee service in 
the current and prior periods.

A defined benefit plan is one which is not a 
defined contribution plan, and typically defines 
an amount of pension benefit an employee will 
receive on retirement. that benefit is normally 
dependent on one or more factors such as 
age, years of service and pay. 

the liability recognised in the balance sheet 
in respect of defined benefit pension plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obli-
gation at the balance sheet date less the fair 
value of plan assets, adjusted for unrecog-
nised actuarial gains or losses. the pension 
commitment is calculated annually by an inde-
pendent actuary using a straight-line earnings 
method. the present value of the defined 
benefit obligations is determined by discount-
ing the estimated future cash outflows using 
interest rates corresponding to a 10-year nor-
wegian government bond extended in duration 
to provide a term to maturity approximating to 
the terms of the related pension liability. esti-
mated payroll tax on the net pension commit-
ment calculated by an actuary is added to the 
carrying amount of the obligation.

Changes in pension plan benefits are rec-
ognised immediately in the profit and loss 
account unless rights in the new pension plan 
are conditional on the employee remaining in 
service for a specific period of time (the vest-
ing period). in that case, the costs associated 
with the change in benefit are amortised on a 
straight-line basis over the vesting period.

Changes to estimates arising from new 
information or changes to actuarial assump-
tions are recognised in the profit and loss 
account over a period corresponding to the 
expected average remaining working lives of 
the employees.

For defined contribution plans, the group 
pays contribution to publicly- or privately-
administered pension insurance plans on an 
obligatory, contractual or voluntary basis. 
the group has no further payment obliga-

tions once the contributions have been paid. 
the contributions are recognised as a payroll 
expense when they fall due. prepaid contribu-
tions are recognised as an asset to the extent 
that a cash refund or a reduction in the future 
payments is available.

share-based compensation
the fair value of share options granted is 
assessed at the granting date and expensed over 
the period from the granting date to the exercise 
date. the cost also includes payroll tax.

liabilities incurred related to cash-settled 
options (share appreciation rights) are meas-
ured at the fair value at the reporting date. until 
the liability is settled, the fair value of the lia-
bility is remeasured at each reporting date and 
the date of settlement, with any changes in fair 
value recognised in profit or loss for the period.

bonus schemes
Certain senior executives have bonus agree-
ments related to the attainment of specified 
targets for the business (budgets and activi-
ties). obligations (provisions) and costs (pay) 
are recognised for bonuses in accordance with 
the company’s contractual obligations.

severance pay
Severance pay is given when the contract 
of employment is terminated by the group 
before the normal age of retirement or when 
an employee voluntarily agrees to leave in 
return for such a payment. the group recog-
nises severance pay in the accounts when it is 
demonstrably obliged either to terminate the 
contract of employment for existing employ-
ees in accordance with a formal, detailed plan 
which the group cannot rescind, or to make a 
payment as a consequence of an offer made 
to encourage voluntary resignations. Sever-
ance pay which falls due more than 12 months 
after the balance sheet date is discounted to 
present value.

provisions
the group makes provisions when a legal or 
constructive obligation exists as a result of 
past events, it is more likely than not that an 
transfer of financial resources will be required 
to settle the obligation, and the amount of the 
obligation can be estimated with a sufficient 
degree of reliability. provisions relate primarily 
to restructuring costs. obligations falling due 
more than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date is discounted to present value.

Government GrAnts
government grants including non-monetary 
grants at fair value, will only be recognised 
when there is reasonable assurance that 
the company will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them, and the grants will be 
received. the grants are recognised as cost 
reductions in the profit and loss.

revenue recoGnition
revenue from the sale of goods and services 
is recognised at fair value, net of VAt, returns, 
discounts and rejects.

sales of goods
Sales of goods are recognised in the profit and 
loss account when a unit within the group has 
delivered its products to the customer and the 
customer has accepted the product.

sales of services
Sales of services embrace development assign-
ments and services related to industryalisation. 
Service deliveries are partly project-based and 
partly hourly-based. Sales of project-based 
services are recognised in the period in which 
the services are rendered, based on the degree 
of completion of the relevant project. the 
degree of completion is determined by meas-
uring the services provided as a proportion of 
the total services to be rendered. Hourly-based 
services are recognised in the period when the 
service is rendered.

interest income
interest on bank deposits is recognised in the 
period when it is earned.

leAsinG
leases where a significant portion of the risks 
associated with the fixed asset are retained 
by the lessor are classified as operating leas-
ing. payments made under operating leases 
are recognised in the profit and loss account 
on a straight-line basis over the period of the 
lease.

dividend pAyments
possible dividend payments to the company’s 
shareholders are recognised as a liability in 
the group’s financial statements in the period 
when the dividend is approved by the general 
meeting.

note � finanCial risK

the company is exposed through its business 
to a number of financial risks. its corporate 
routines for risk management focus on the 
unpredictability of the financial markets, and 
endeavour to minimise potential negative 
effects arising from the company’s financial 
dispositions.

mArket risk
Currency risk: the group is exposed to 
changes in foreign exchange rates because 
a significant share of the group’s goods 
and services are sold in such currencies. At 
the same time raw material are bought in 

foreign currency and the operating costs in 
foreign group entities are in local currency. 
to reduce the currency risk relating to pro-
curement, the company’s standard contracts 
with its customers include currency clauses 
which allow the company to adjust its sales 
price when the actual exchange rate for raw 
material purchases differs significantly from 
the agreed base rate. the group has not 
established other significant currency hedge 
arrangements over and above its standard 
contracts with customers. 

price risk: the company is exposed to price 

risk both because raw materials follow inter-
national market prices for electronic and 
mechanical components and because the 
company’s goods and services are subject to 
price pressures. routines have been estab-
lished for procurement by the company’s 
own sourcing organisation, which negotiates 
group contracts. this centralisation of the 
sourcing function allows Kitron to achieve 
improved material prices

credit risk
the bulk of the group’s accounts receivable 
are credit insured as part of the company’s 
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note 4 important aCCountinG estimates anD DisCretionary assessments

estimates and discretionary assessments are 
based on historical experience and other fac-
tors, including expectations of future events 
which are considered to be likely under 
present conditions.

importAnt AccountinG 
estimAtes And Assumptions
the group prepares estimates and makes 
assumptions about the future. Accounting 
estimates derived from these will by definition 
seldom accord fully with the final outcome. 
estimates and assumptions which represent 
a substantial risk for significant changes in 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
during the coming fiscal year are discussed 
below.

estimated value of goodwill
the group performs annual tests to assess 
the fall in value of goodwill and tangible fixed 
assets. the recoverable amount from cash-
generating units is determined on the basis 
of present-value calculations of expected 
annual cash flows. these calculations 
require the use of estimates for cash flows 
and the choice of discount rate before tax 
for discounting the cash flows. A 10 per cent 
reduction in the estimated contribution mar-
gin or increase in the discount rate before tax 
for discounting cash flows would not have 
generated an additional impairment charge 
for goodwill.

deferred tax assets
the group performs annual tests for impair-
ment of deferred tax assets. part of the basis 
for recognising deferred tax assets is based 
on applying the loss carried forward against 
future taxable income in the group. this 
requires the use of estimates for calculating 
future taxable income. A 10 per cent reduc-
tion in future taxable income in the group 
would not have generated an additional 
impairment charge for goodwill.

factoring agreement. Kitron accordingly 
bears credit risk only for accouns receivable 
who are not insured. the company has rou-
tines to ensure that uninsured sales on credit 
are made only to creditworthy customers.

liquidity risk
Kitron’s financing is primarily short-term. 
and based on factoring finance for accounts 
receivable. this means that fluctuations in 

turnover affect the company’s liquidity. in 
addition, drawing facilities have been estab-
lished in banks which counteract the liquidity 
fluctuations related to turnover.

interest rAte risk
interest on the group’s interest-bearing debt 
is charged at the relevant market rate prevail-
ing at any given time (three months norwe-
gian interbank offered rate – nibor – plus the 

agreed interest margin). external financing 
for the group’s operational companies takes 
place in the functional currency. no inter-
est rate instruments have been established 
in the group. the company does not have 
significant interest-bearing assets, so that its 
income and cash flow from operational activi-
ties are not significantly exposed to changes 
in the market interest rate.

note 5 siGnifiCant events

new factoring arrangement
the company inplemented a new factoring scheme from 1 october 2006. the previous scheme involving sale of the groups’s trade debtors 
was replaced by a conventional factoring arrangement in which Kitron’s trade debtors remain on the group’s balance sheet. this involves 
an increase in the groups‘s balance and thus a reducton in the equity ratio. the change does not affect the size of the group’s equity.

note 6 sales revenues anD business areas

Kitron provides goods and services within development, industrialisation and manufacturing for the electronics sector in various geographi-
cal areas and different market segments.

primary reporting format - business areas
the group’s business is grouped in two main areas: electronic manufacturing services (eMS) and Kitron Microelectronics (KM). For a more 
detailed description of these individual business areas, see the presentation in the directors’ report.

breakdown by business area
    

 electronic Manufacturing Services  Kitron Microelectronics other and eliminations

(Amounts in noK 
1000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

revenues  1 41� 762  1 410 048  1 597 163  289 984  195 464  190 896  (10 187)  (29 171)  (40 012) 
other operating costs  1 �46 5�6  1 415 006  1 595 525  260 62�  182 246  185 737  (7 4�5)  (25 227)  (18 171) 
Depreciation and 
impairment  20 9�2  30 343  32 093  5 469  4 089  3 179  2 986  4 243  2 955 
operating profit/(loss)  46 294  (35 301)  (30 455)  2� 892  9 129  1 981  (5 7�8)  (8 187)  (24 797) 
Assets  8�� 855  569 004  622 105  141 67�  89 693  82 480  (17 998)  (6 174)  (93 801) 
liabilities  698 22�  464 337  470 321  10� 911  74 382  66 397  (�0 �0�)  (37 314)  (54 001) 
investment  �0 020  17 783  16 987  9 111  12 156  2 352  585  745  4 151

Assets and liabilities are the carrying amounts in the accounts of the companies included in the business areas. transactions and balances 
within each business area are eliminated.

24



sales by market segment

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005 2004

Data/telecom  420 778  422 361  489 461 
Defence/marine  4�1 2�2  450 315  524 094 
Medical equipment  41� �27  344 410  364 218 
industry  428 222  359 255  370 274 
total sales revenues  1 69� 559  1 576 341  1 748 047

 

seConDary reportinG format - GeoGraphiCal area

Geographical breakdown of sales revenues

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005 2004

norway 760 270 819 015  1 043 223 
Sweden 776 965 624 157  553 405 
rest of europe 59 9�7 56 702  55 502 
uSA �5 125 14 544  9 991 
other 61 262 61 923  85 926 
total  1 69� 559  1 576 341  1 748 047

Geographical breakdown of assets and investments

norway Sweden lithuania

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004 2006 2005 2004

Assets 692 649  440 910  396 484  217 988  156 956  151 091  142 062  69 330  65 486 
investments  24 472  27 283  12 065  5 �46  1 650  2 915  9 897  1 751  8 510 

note 7 inventory

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

raw materials and purchased semi-manufactures  188 674  172 244 
Work in progress  80 9�7  52 324 
Finished goods  1� 280  17 974 
total inventory  282 891  242 542

the total impairment charge recognised in the profit and loss account for the year is noK 8.8 million (2005: noK 11.7 million). inventory at 
31 December 2006 provides security for noK 212.7 million (2005: noK 195.3 million). See note 22.

note 8 payroll Costs

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

pay  �47 852  358 693 
payroll tax  70 055  71 316 
net pension costs defined benefit plans (note 9)  1 464  9 336 
pension costs defined contribution plans  16 972  8 849 
options  -    4 837 
other remuneration  29 700  22 242 
total  466 04�  475 273 

Average number of employees 1 291 1 307
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note 9 pensions anD relateD obliGations

employees in Kitron’s norwegian companies are covered by pension plans which give the right to future benefits. until 31 December 2005,  
all employees in Kitron’s norwegian companies were covered by funded defined benefit plans (with life insurance companies). At 31 Decem-
ber 2005, the funded plans were discontinued and replaced with a contribution-based pension scheme. the norwegian plans embrace 705 
employees.

employees in certain norwegian companies are also covered by unfunded defined benefit plans(AFp early retirement scheme). employees in 
Kitron’s Swedish companies are covered by contribution-based pension plans. the carrying amount of the pension obligation includes life-
long benefits to former Ceo.

the company is obliged to have pension plans according to norwegian law. the company’s contribution-based pension scheme complies 
with these requirements

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Carrying amount of the obligation
pension benefits 2� 007 21 543

Costs recognised in the profit and loss account (incl. in note 8)
pension benefits 1 464 9 336

pension benefits
Carrying amount of the obligation is determined as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

present value of accrued commitments in funded defined benefit plans - -
Fair value of pension fund assets - -
unrecognised variances from estimates - -
Accrued payroll tax - -
net commitments in funded defined benefit plans - -

present value of accrued commitments in unfunded defined benfit plans (29 617) (22 002)
unrecognised variances from estimates 7 167 2 625
Accrued payroll tax (557) (2 166)
net commitments in unfunded defined benefit plans (2� 007) (21 543)

net pension commitment in the balance sheet (2� 007) (21 543)

net pension costs comprise

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

present value of pension earnings for the year 755 1 149
interest cost 680 667
expected return on pension fund assets - -
recognised changes in/variances from estimates 29 (1 064)
payroll taxes - 252
Costs assosiated with terminated funded insured benefits* - 8 332
total, included in payroll costs (note 8) 1 464 9 336

* Costs associated with terminated funded insured benefits comprise recognised commitments, premium paid for the year, premium for technical insurance 
underfunding and administrative reserve.

Change in carrying amount of pension commitments

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

opening balance, see note 31 21 54� 38 171
Cost recognised in the profit and loss account for the year 1 464 9 336
pension premium paid - (25 964)
Closing balance 2� 007 21 543

the following assumptions have been applied in calculating pension commitments: 

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Discount rate 4.25% 4.3%
expected return on pension funds 5.5% 5.3%
Annual pay adjustment 4.0% 2.9%
Annual pension adjustment �.5% 2.4%

Assumptions on mortality rates are based on published statistics in norway (K63).
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note 10 tanGible fixeD assets anD DepreCiation

 

(Amounts in noK 1000)
Machinery and 

equipment
Buildings 
and land total

at 1 January 2005
Acquisition cost 490 656 63 385 554 041
Accumulated depreciation/impairment 411 466 22 014 4�� 480
Accounting carrying amount 79 190 41 371 120 561

fiscal 2005
opening balance 79 190 41 371 120 561
Conversion differencies (761) (565) (1 �26)

Additions 28 721 1 963 �0 684
Disposals (894) - (894)
Depreciation (27 913) (2 865) (�0 778)
impairment (5 800) (5 800)
Closing balance 78 343 34 104 112 447

at �1 December 2005
Acquisition cost 517 722 64 783 582 505
Accumulated depreciation/impairment (439 379) (30 679) (470 058)
Accounting carrying amount 78 343 34 104 112 447

fiscal 2006
opening balance 78 343 34 104 112 447
Conversion differencies 928 540 1 467
Additions 38 390 4 035 42 426
Disposals (3 430) - (� 4�0)
Depreciation (23 207) (6 180) (29 �87)
Closing balance 91 024 32 499 12� 52�

at �1 December 2006
Acquisition cost 553 610 69 358 622 968
Accumulated depreciation/impairment (462 586) (36 859) (499 445)
Accounting carrying amount 91 024 32 499 12� 52�

Accounting carrying amount includes the carrying amount of fixed assets which are treated for accounting purposes as financial leasing, 
see note 24

Machinery, equipment, buildings and land were provided at 31 December as security for noK 71,4 million and noK 32,5 million (2005: 
noK 62,7 million and noK 34,1 million), see note 22.
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note 11 GooDwill

(Amounts in noK 1000) goodwill

at 1 January 2005
Acquisition cost 22 321
Accumulated impairment charge 1 735
Accounting carrying amount 20 586

fiscal 2005
opening balance 20 586
impairment 2 097
Closing balance 18 489

at �1 December 2005
Acquisition cost 22 321
Accumulated impairment charge 3 832
Accounting carrying amount 18 489

fiscal 2006
opening balance 18 489
Additions 634
Closing balance 19 123

at �1 December 2006
Acquisition cost 22 955
Accumulated impairment charge 3 832
Accounting carrying amount 19 123

the company’s cash-generating units are identified for the electronic manufacturing services (eMS) and by Kitron Microelectronics (KM) 
business areas, and by country.

allocation of carrying amount of goodwill by business area and by country:

       2006                    2005 

(Amounts in noK 1000)  ems Km  eMS KM

norway 702 1 195 702 1 195
Sweden � 555 - 2 921 -
lithuania 1� 671 - 13 671 -
total 17 928 1 195 17 294 1 195

the recoverable amount for a cash-generating unit is based on a calculation of utility value.

the cash flow assumption is based on financial budgets approved by the company’s management. these calculations is based on growth 
assumptions which correspond with industry expectations of growth in the eMS market in the coming years (11.6 per cent annually). the 
calculations are based on cash flows for the next five years and a discount rate of 15 per cent.

impairment charges in 2005 resulted from one of the company’s customers moving its production to Asia.
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note 12 aCCount reCeivable anD other reCeivables

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Accounts receivable ��9 8�1 68 741
provision for bad debts (4 87�) (6 000)
Accounts receivable – net ��4 958 62 741
receivable from related parties (note 19) �0 �08 27 676
earned, non-invoiced income 2 125 20 421
pre-paid costs 5 ��8 16 570
other receivables 40 959 18 218
total 41� 688 145 626

Deducted long-term items 2 920 3 855
Current items 410 768 141 771

long-term receivables are non-interest-bearing long-term receivables. All long-term receivables fall due within five years from the balance 
sheet date.

fair value of accounts receivable and other receivables:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Accounts receivable - net ��4 958 62 741
receivable from related parties (note 19) �0 �08 27 676
earned, non-invoiced income 2 125 20 421
pre-paid costs 5 ��8 16 570
other receivables 40 792 17 919
total 41� 521 145 327

the discount rate for calculating fair value of long-term items is 5.5 per cent (2005: 4.5 per cent) For current receivables, the carrying 
amount is virtually identical with the fair value.

credit risk:
no special concentration of accounts receivable exists which poses an abnormal credit risk. Accounts receivable and other receivables at 31 
Desember 2006 provided security for noK 413.7 million (2005: 145.6 million), see note 22.

note 1� aCCounts payable anD other Current liabilities

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Accounts payable 262 070 230 317
public duties �4 99� 25 751
payable to related parties (note 19) � 761 1 371
Costs incurred 78 555 93 138
total �79 �79 350 577

note 14 loans

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

long-term loans
Bank loans - 11 852
other loans �1 011 28 826
total �1 011 40 678

Current loans
Bank overdraft 74 145 31 931
Bank loans 5 460 5 173
other loans 244 794 9 265
total �24 �99 46 369

total loans �55 410 87 047

other loans primarily involve leasing liabilities (see note 24) and factoring debt.
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periods to maturity of long-term loans:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Between one and two years 5 772 12 715
Between two and five years 12 617 15 684
More than five years 12 621 12 279
total �1 011 40 678

effective interest rate at the balance sheet date:

2006 2005

noK andre noK Andre

Bank overdraft 5.50% �.0-6.75% 4.25% 4.0-11%
Bank loans - 7.75% 4.3% 5.4-6.5%
other loans 5.0–5.2% 4.5–6.6% 4.0% 6.2%

Carrying amount and fair value of long-term loans::

Carrying amount Fair value

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005 2006 2005

long-term bank loans - 11 852 - 10 733
other loans 31 011 28 826 24 207 25 147
total 31 011 40 678 24 207 35 880

Fair value is based on discounted cash flow with a discount rate of 5.5 per cent (2005: 4.5 per cent)
the carrying amount of current loans is virtually identical with fair value.

Carrying amount of the group’s loans in various currencies:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

noK 191 452 41 620
SeK 67 118 19 281
ltl 55 025 10 909
euro 28 54� 15 237
uSD 1� 271 -
total �55 410 87 047

the company’s financing agreements include covenants relating to such factors as the company’s equity and earnings. Due to restructuring 
costs and acquisition of minority in uAB Kitron the company did not comply with these covenants at 31 December 2005. However, through a 
dialogue with the banks in the subsequent period waivers were issued. the conditions for the loans were renegotiated and the company was 
in compliance with covenants at the date when the accounts were presented.
the company complies with the covenants at 31 December 2006.
loans include noK 355,4 million (2005: 87,0 million) in secured commitments (bank loans and other secured loans). See note 22.

note 15 provisions

(Amounts in noK 1000) resstructuring

At 1 January 2006 48 507
recognised in consolidated profit and loss account
provisions for the year -
reversal of unused provisions from earlier periods -
used during the year (38 714)
At 31 December 2006 9 793

Classification in the balance sheet

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

long-term liabilities 7 160 15 104
Current liabilities 2 6�� 33 403
total 9 79� 48 507

total provisions at 31 December 2006 came to noK 9.8 million.

outstanding provisions relate to restructuring measures in earlier periods the amount used during the year is in line with plans and accords 
with the restructuring provisions  made in earlier periods.
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note 16 tax

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

tax payable � 76� 726
Deferred tax (note 17) - -
total � 76� 726

tax on the group’s pre-tax result varies from the amount which would have arisen if the group’s weighted average tax rate  
had been applied.

the difference is explained as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

ordinary profit/(loss) before tax 45 4�9 (58 213)
tax calculated at the various national rates 10 557 (16 540)
issue costs, unrecognised - (1 254)
non-tax-deductible expenses 179 819
tax loss unrecognised as tax assets (6 97�) 17 701
tax cost � 76� 726

the average tax return rate was 28 per cent (2005: 28 per cent).

note 17 DeferreD tax

Deferred tax is recognised net when the group has a legal right to net deferred tax assets against deferred tax in the balance sheet and if the 
deferred tax is payable to the same tax authority. the following amounts have been netted:

Deferred tax assets

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Deferred tax asset which reverses in more than 12 months 20 000 20 000
Deferred tax asset which reverses in less than 12 months - -
total 20 000 20 000

Deferred tax

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Deferred tax which reverses in more than 12 months - -
Deferred tax which reverses in less than 12 months - -
total - -

Change in carrying amount of deferred tax asset:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

opening balance 20 000 20 000
Conversion differencies - -
profit and loss account - -
tax recognised against equity - -
Closing balance 20 000 20 000

Changes in deferred tax assets and deferred tax (with netting in same tax regime)

Deferred tax

(Amounts in noK 1000)
gain and loss 

account  
Financial 

leasing total

At 1 January 2005 1 391 - 1 �91
profit/(loss) for the period (278) 106 (172)
Conversion differencies - - -
At 31 December 2005 1 113 106 1 219
profit/(loss) for the period (117) (106) (22�)
Conversion differencies - - -
At 31 December 2006 996 - 996
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Deferred tax assets

(Amounts in noK 1000)
provision and 
current assets

Fixed assets 
and goodwill 

loss carried 
forward pension total

At 1 January 2005 9 189 3 373 116 689 10 688 1�9 9�9
profit/(loss) for the period (5 021) (856) (6 285) (4 656) (16 818)
Conversion differencies (28) (5) - - (��)
At 31 December 2005 4 140 2 512 110 404 6 032 12� 088
profit/(loss) for the period (1 344) 4 779 (16 453) (2 759) (15 777)
Conversion differencies - - 8 - 8
At 31 December 2006 2 796 7 291 93 959 3 273 107 �19

Deferred tax assets related to tax loss carried forward is recognised in the balance sheet to the extent that it is probable that the group can 
apply this against future taxable profit. the group has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of noK 87.3 million (2005: noK 103.1 million). 
there are no restrictions on the right to carry the tax loss forward.

note 18 investment in other Companies

investment in shares

group Business office Shareholding Voting share
Acquisition 

cost Book value

Company’s name
let’s train AS oslo 20% 20% 150 1
iuC AB Jönköping 3% 3% 4 4
elektronikcentrum i Karlskoga AB Karlskoga 10% 10% 10 10
telespor AS Bærum 5% 5% 26 26
total 190 41

note 19 relateD parties

i) sale of goods and services

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2006 2005

Sales of goods1 1�9 98� 188 863

ii) purchase of goods and services

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2006 2005

purchase of goods1 1 869 3 729

iii) remuneration of senior executives

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2006 2005

pay and other short-term benefits2 11 4�0 7 381
option costs - 4 124
Severance pay 4 400 -
total 15 8�0 11 505

iv) balance sheet items at �1 December resulting from purchase/sale of goods and services

(Amounts in noK 1 000) 2006 2005

receivable from related parties
Shareholders 1 �0 �08 27 676
total �0 �08 27 676

payables to related parties:
Shareholders1 41 1 371
Senior executives3 � 720 -
total � 761 1 371

(1) Kongsberg gruppen ASA owns 19.33 per cent of the shares in Kitron ASA. purchase and sales of goods and services consist almost entirely of transactions 
with Kongsberg gruppen ASA. All contracts  and transactions between companies in the Kitron group and and Kongsberg gruppen with subsidiaries are 
made on commercial terms at the market price for goods and services.

(2) Senior executives comprise the corporate management team at Kitron ASA. See note 20 for a more extensive description of remuneration of senior execu-
tives.

(3) the amount at 31 December 2006 comprises accrued bonuses to corporate management team and remaining severance pay to the previous chief executive.
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note 20 remuneration of Chief exeCutives, DireCtors anD auDitor

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Directors’ fees 924 860
    - chairman 200 200
    - directors 724 660
Auditor’s fees
    - legally-required audit 1 �90 1 794
    - other non-auditing services 941 1 229

pay and other remuneration of senior executives in 2006:
(Amounts in noK 1000)

name Functinon period Fee pay Bonus

other 
short-
term 

remu-
neration

Sever-
ance 

pay

total 
pay and 

remu-
neration

pension 
contribu-

tion

Jan t. Jørgensen Ceo 01.01.2006 - 15.05.2006 1 032 200 158 4 400 5 790 140
Jørgen Bredesen Ceo 18.05.2006 - 31.12.2006 1 466 99 1 565 97
Morten Jurs CFo 01.01.2006 - 31.10.2006 1 311 585 113 2 009 30
erling Svela CFo 01.11.2006 - 31.12.2006 190 26 216 6
Jonas eklind Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.10.2006 1 373 61 64 1 497 333
Vidar Hole Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.01.2006 139 71 11 221 3
Jan liholt Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 1 020 50 92 1 162 36
Almante Medziausiene Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 430 430
Jan Sigvartsen Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 1 483 100 120 1 703 36
leif tore Smedås Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 874 170 116 1 160 36
gard eliassen Vice president 11.12.2006 - 31.12.2006 68 9 77 3
total 9 386 1 237 808 4 400 15 830 720

Christian Bjelland Chairman 01.01.2005 - 16.08.2005 58 58
nerijus Dagilis Chairman/director 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 142 142
Carl espen Wollebekk Chairman 11.05.2006 - 31.12.2006 0
Arne Solberg Deputy chairman 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 90 90
Annette Malm Justad Director 16.08.2005 - 26.09.2005 10 10
per-erik Mohlin Director 01.01.2006 - 11.05.2006 170 170
titas Sereika Director 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 64 64
Kjell e. Almskog Director 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 160 160
ian Hague Director 11.05.2006 - 31.12.2006 0

liv Johansen
Director (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 90 90

preben Jensen
Director (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 90 90

leif Henriksen
Director (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 20 20

Magnus B. lindseth observer 01.01.2006 - 11.05.2006 10 10

trygve Størseth
observer (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 20 20

total 924 924

the table above comprises salaries and remunerations reported for tax purposes in 2006. pension contribution include paid contribution to 
the company’s pension scheme. For employee representatives only fee is declared.
president and Ceo Jan t. Jørgensen resigned 15 May 2006 in agreement with the Board of Directors.  remunerations in 2006 also embrace 
severance pay according to the agreement.
CFo Morten Jurs left the company 31 october 2006. Vice president Vidar Hole left the company 31 January 2006.
Vice president in Kitron AB Jonas eklind resigned in agreement with the company 31 october 2006. 
there are made provisions for management bonuses at 31 December 2006. the bonuses will be paid when the annual accounts for 2006 are 
approved by the Board of Directors.

declArAtion of remunerAtion to senior executives
the table above includes information on all individuals covered by the disclosure obligation at any time during the year, while this declaration 
is limited to the president and Ceo and the vice presidents. the president and Ceo is covered by the same schemes as the vice presidents 
unless otherwise stated.
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recommended executive remuneration policy
Kitron wants to offer competitive terms in order for the company to attract and retain competent managers, and at the same time achieve 
alignment of interest between management and shareholders. the remuneration and other terms of employment for the executives reflect a 
number of factors, such as the position itself and the market conditions. the remuneration comprises a reasonable basic salary and a pension 
contribution plus a cash bonus, which is principally linked to the company’s performance. For the president and Ceo the total bonus may not 
amount to more than 125 per cent of base salary. For the vice presidents the total bonus is limited to 100 per cent of base salary. Kitron does 
not offer other substantial bebnefits in kind than company cars. Certain tools, which are needed to perform executive duties, are reported for 
tax purposes and are included in the amoiunts in the table above. 
Kitron will honour all employment agreements which are in effect. Future supplements to employment agreements and new employment 
agreements will be in accordance with these guidelines.
the board determines the remuneration and other terms of employment of the presiden and Ceo. the president and Ceo determines the 
remuneration and other terms of employmment of the vice presidents within the framework resolved by the board.
the vice presidents are members of Kitron’s general pension contribution scheme. the age of retirement is 67 years. the annual pension 
contribution to the president and Ceo is noK 150 thousand. the contribution is coordinated with the contribution to the general scheme. 
the president and Ceo’s age of retirement is 65 years. 
the president and Ceo may under certain circumstances have a right to receive twelve months’ post-employment compensation. there is no 
other post-employment remuneration or employment protection beyond a normal notice period.

mandatory executive remuneration policy
on 22 March 2007 the board resolved to introduce a bonus scheme for the vice presidents and a large number of selected managers and 
specialists. the bonus is calculated from any actual increase in the share price of up to 2.0 million underlying shares. Half of the number of 
shares is reserved for others than the vice presidents. At the same time, the board resolved a corresponding scheme for the president and 
Ceo, based on 0.5 million underlying shares.
the incentive will consist of a cash bonus calculated on the basis of any actual increase in the share price on a number of underlying shares. 
no shares or options are issued. the participants will receive a bonus amounting to the increase in the share price in the period between the 
publication of the preliminary annual result for one year and the publication of the next year’s preliminary result.
grants are allocated over a period of three years. For the president and Ceo the full grant is made in 2007. Any payments under the scheme 
will be made in February 2008, 2009 and 2010 and are conditional on the recipient remaining employed by Kitron in a participating position.
if the scheme is fully utilized, all recipients together will receive a gain of noK 583 thousand for each noK 0.50 increase in the share price 
during the course of a year. Any gain for the president and Ceo and the vice presidents is limited by inclusion in the bonus restriction stated 
above. For other recipients, any annual gain cannot exceed 50 per cent of base salary.
During the period from the time of grant to the time any gain is paid the company must book a provision for the expected cost of the scheme. 
the accrued portion of the fair value of the grants is recognized in the interim financial statements. if this value is reduced from one quarter 
to the next, a cost reversal will take place.
the scheme is not dilutive, and it leads to clearly aligned interests of management and shareholders.
the board does not now want to prepare new share-based incentive programmes for the group management or other employees for 2008. 
Any such programmes will be presented for consideration at the general meeting 2008.

note 21 finanCial items

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

interest expenses 14 521 13 009

other financial expenses 7 175 7 439

interest income 641 1 568

Currency loss 2 475 6 886
Currency gain (4 521) (1 912)
net currency loss (2 046) 4 974
net financial costs 19 009 23 854
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note 22 mortGaGes 

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Debt secured by mortgages �55 410 87 047

Carrying amount of assets provided as security:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Buildings and land �2 497 34 105
Machinery and equipment 71 442 62 667
receivables 41� 688 145 626
inventory 212 678 195 329
total 7�0 �05 437 727

Debt secured by mortgages includes leasing liabilities for fixed assets treated for accounting purposes as financial leasing. the carrying 
amount of these fixed assets is included in the carrying amount of assets provided as security. of the mortgage debt in the consolidated ac-
counts, the commitment related to leasing recognised in the balance sheet amounted to noK 31.6 million at 31 December 2006 (2005: noK 
29.7 million).

up to noK 115 million in letting rights to buildings has been provided by the group as security. Conditions in the form of vendor’s fixed 
charge are moreover related to deliveries from Kitron’s suppliers of goods.

the group’s receivables recognised in the balance sheet are provided as security (factoring mortgage) for obligations to DnB nor Finans.

the group’s bankers had provided guarantees at 31 December for leasing obligations and tax due but not paid. these totalled noK 7.5 mil-
lion and noK 14.4 million respectively for the group.

note 2� Cash anD Cash equivalents

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Cash and cash equivalents 98 264 113 229

cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement comprise:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Cash and cash equivalents 98 264 113 229
overdraft drawn down (74 145) (31 931)
locked-in bank deposits (18 91�) (28 491)
total 5 206 52 807

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Bank overdraft facilities 31 December 12� 600 85 150
net drawn on overdraft facilities 31 December 74 145 31 931

locked-in bank deposits 31 December
        Security for tax withholding 1 902 1 366
        Security for factoring receivables 10 029 20 329
        Security for rent guarantee 6 982 6 796
total 18 91� 28 491

Kitron ASA has established a group account agreement with the company’s principal banks. this embraces Kitron ASA and certain of its 
norwegian subsidiaries.
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note 24 leasinG aGreements

leasinG aGreements reConGiseD in the balanCe sheet
fixed assets:

(Amounts in noK 1000)
 Carrying amount 

31 Dec 2006  
Depreciation 

for the year
remaining 

lease 
nominal 

rent
present value 
of future rent

Buildings and land 16 725 2 025 12 år 22 988 15 369
Machinery and equipment 21 702 3 694 1-4 år 23 220 20 096

Buildings and land includes factory premises in lithuania

specification of estimated rent falling due within:

(Amounts in noK 1000) nominal rent
present value 
of future rent

1 year  6 298  6 275 
2-5 years  12 950  10 739 
> 5 years  26 959  18 451 

With some of the leases for machinery and equipment, the company has the right to buy the leased object at the termination of the lease pe-
riod. the buy-out price stands at one-three months rent. no such purchase option is included in the lease for buildings and land in lithuania.

unreCoGniseD lease aGreements
fixed assets:

(Amounts in noK 1000) rent in 2006  
remaining 

lease

Buildings and land 23 884 1-10 år
Machinery and equipment 8 418 1-4 år

Buildings and land includes factory premises in norway and Sweden..

specification of estimated rent falling due within:

(Amounts in noK 1000) nominal rent
present value 
of future rent

1 year  20 576  19 896 
2-5 years  57 945  49 402 
> 5 years  77 191  48 205 

With some of the leases for machinery and equipment, the company has a limited right to buy the leased object at the termination of the 
lease period. the buy-out price is the normal market price for the relevant leased object.
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note 25 shares anD subsCription riGhts senior employees

there are at 31 December 2006 no outstanding subscription rights.

the overview below shows the number of shares held by directrors and member of the corporate management team at 31 December 2006

board number of shares

Carl espen Wollebekk, chairman -
Arne Solberg, deputy chairman 1  -   
nerijus Dagilis, director 2  -   
titas Sereika, director 3  -   
ian Hague, director 4  -   
Kjell Almskog, director  -   
liv ester Johansen, director  -   
preben Jensen, director  -   
leif Henriksen, director  -   
trygve Størseth, observer  -   

Corporate management number of shares

Jørgen Bredesen, Ceo  50 000 
erling Svela, CFo -
Jan Sigvartsen, vice president 5  110 000 
leif tore Smedås, vice president  52 787 
Jan liholt, vice president  87 660 
gard eliassen, vice president -
Almante Medziausiene, vice president -

1 Arne Solberg is CFo in Kongsberg gruppen ASA, which owns 33 439 153 shares (19.33 per cent) in Kitron ASA
2 nerijus Dagilis is chairman of uAB Hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA
3 titas Sereika is a director in uAB Hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA
4 ian Hague is a board member of Amber trust ii, which holds 23 672 000 shares (13.69 per cent) in Kitron ASA. Amber trust is a joint venture in which  

Mr. Hague is among the ultimate owners. Mr. Hague has less than 1 per cent beneficial ownership in the shares held by Amber trust ii.
5 Jan Sigvartsen is chairman and  50 per cent owner of the shares in Karajan AS. Karajan AS owns 110 000 shares (0.06 per cent) in Kitron ASA

note 26 shares anD shareholDer information

the company’s share capital at 31 December 2006 comprised 172 961 625 shares with a nominal value of noK 1 each. each share carries 
one vote.
there were 3 395 shareholders at 31 December 2006. 

the 20 largest shareholders in kitron AsA at 31 december 2006:

Shareholder number percentage

Clearstream Banking S.A.  51 856 000 29.98%
Kongsberg gruppen ASA  33 439 153 19.33%
ing luxembourg SA  23 822 000 13.77%
SeB Vilniaus Bankas  17 977 656 10.39%
Mp pensjon  10 406 211 6.02%
Stiftelsen Statoils pensjonskasse  1 873 855 1.08%
A/S Bemacs  1 700 606 0.98%
AS Hansabank clients  1 664 530 0.96%
parentz AS  1 600 650 0.93%
Verdipapirfondet norDeA SMB  1 167 984 0.68%
Statoil Forsikring AS  1 088 670 0.63%
petter torgersen  636 000 0.37%
Bjørn Håheim  507 637 0.29%
Morgan Stanley & Co. intl. ltd  400 000 0.23%
Malvin Skjønhaug  395 685 0.23%
A/S Skjærdalen eiendom  386 326 0.22%
Vestvik preservering A/S  300 000 0.17%
leif Johansen  266 000 0.15%
Stein-Arne Mikalsen Stangeland  253 824 0.15%
nordea Bank Denmark AS  221 768 0.13%
total 20 largest shareholders  149 964 555 86.70%
total other shareholders  22 997 070 13.30%
total outstanding shares  172 961 625 100.00%
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note 27 earninGs per share

earnings per share is calculated by dividing the group’s net result for the year with a time-wighted average of the number of outstanding 
ordinary shares in Kitron ASA
Since the company made a loss in 2005, the diluted earnings per share will correspond to earnings per share.

2006 2005

net profit/(loss) (noK 1 000) 41 676 (58 939)
earnings per share (noK) 0.24 (0.39)
Diluted earnings per share (noK) 0.24 (0.39)
time-weighted number of shares 172 961 625 151 599 225
time-weighted number of shares including options 174 616 420 159 236 725

note 28 share Capital anD share premium reserve

(Amounts in noK 1000)
number of 

shares
ordinary 

shares
Share premium 

reserve total

At 1 January 2005 134 635 134 635 398 788 533 423

share option scheme for employees - - - -
- received from employees - - 4 837 4 837
new shares issued 38 327 38 327 52 433 90 760
At 31 December 2005 172 962 172 962 456 058 629 020

share option scheme for employees - - - -
- received from employees - - - -
new shares issued - - - -
At 31 December 2006 172 962 172 962 456 058 629 020

the general meeting has authorised the board to issue up to 10 million shares for use with the option programme for employees..

share options
previously a scheme has been established for granting options to senior executives and key persons. there are at 31 December 2006 no 
outstanding subscription rights. See also note 25.  

Change in the number of outstanding share options and related weighted average strike price:

     2006   2005

average strike 
price per share

number of 
options

Average strike 
price per share

number of 
options

At 1 January 5.40 4 000 000 6.00 8 850 000
granted - - - -
exercised - - - -
Forfeited 5.40 4 000 000 - -
expired - - 6.49 4 850 000
At 31 December - 5.40 4 000 000

the fair value of the options awarded in 2004, calculated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was noK 3.6 million. the most 
important input data were the share price at the granting date, the strike price shown above, the standard deviation on the expected share 
yield of 73 per cent, an expected dividend of 0, the terms of the options shown above, and an annual risk-free interest rate of 3.73 per cent. 
Volatility measeured by the standard deviation for expected share yield is based on a statistical analysis of daily share prices over the past 
three years.
no shares were issued in connection with the option programmes during the period.
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note 29 Cash flow from operations

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

ordinary profit/(loss) before tax 45 439 (58 213)
Depreciation 29 387 30 779
impairment charges - 7 897
Change in inventory (40 349) 3 852
Change in accounts receivable (274 849) 40 402
Change in accounts payable 30 423 4 802
Change in pension funds/obligations 1 464 (16 628)
Change in other accrual items 210 599 (2 829)
Change in locked-in bank deposits 9 578 1 509
interest expense 14 521 13 009
Cash flow from operations 26 213 24 580

note �0 Government Grants

the total government grants recognised in the profit and loss account for the year is noK 0.8 million. (2005: noK 0.7 million).
the grants are recognised as cost reductions in the profit and loss account.

note �1 CorreCtion for prior perioD errors

in the annual accounts for 2006 life-long pension benefit to former Ceo is incorporated. this obligation has not been incorporated in previ-
ous annual accounts.

the annual accounts for 2006 are affected by a decrease of equity at 1 Januar 2005 of noK 6 639 000. the company’s pension commit-
ments are increased with the same amount at the same date. the profit and loss account for 2005 is not affected.
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(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005

revenues
Sales revenues 2  27 797 27 492
total revenues  27 797 27 492

operating costs
payroll expenses 3, 4, 14  18 906 11 632
Depreciation and impairments 5, 6  5 109 5 345
other operating expenses  12 460 14 999
total operating costs  �6 475 31 976

operating loss  (8 678) (4 484)

financial income and expenses 
intra-group interest income  1 410 128
other interest income  1 5�1 339
other financial income 20  6 209 230
other interest expenses  � 648 560
other financial expenses 20  1 �04 1 254
net financial items  4 198 (1 117)

loss before tax  (4 480) (5 601)
tax 8  - -
net loss  (4 480) (5 601)

proFit AnD loSS ACCount 
Kitron ASA
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(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005

Assets

fixeD assets
intangible fixed assets
goodwill  2 546 4 646
Deferred tax assets 8, 21  18 996 18 996
total intangible fixed assets  21 541 23 642

tangible fixed assets
Machinery, equipment etc 5, 17  2 196 4 620

financial fixed assets
investment in subsidiaries 9, 17  �78 257 371 938
intra-group loans 7, 15  15 801 14 970
investment in shares 10  26 26
other long-term receivables  1 200 1 800
total financial fixed assets  �95 28� 388 734

total fixed assets  419 021 416 996

Current assets
receivables
Accounts rceceivables 7, 17  27 500 18 757
other receivables 7, 17  �� 291 26 678
total recevables  60 791 45 435

Bank deposits, cash in hand, etc 18  12 779 80 916
total current assets  7� 570 126 351

total assets  492 591 543 347

(Amounts in noK 1000) note 2006 2005

liAbilities And equity

equity
paid-in equity
Share capital  
(172 961 625 shares at noK 1)) 11, 13  172 962 172 962 
Share premium reserve 11, 21  242 827  247 307 
total paid-in equity  415 789  420 269 

total equity  415 789  420 269 

liabilities
provisions
pension commitments 1, 4  7 �18 7 592

other long-term liabilities
liabilities to financial institutions 16  -  2 027 

Current liabilities
liabilities to financial institutions 17, 18  60 150  18 276 
Accounts payable  4 628  3 982 
public duties payable  1 589  954 
other current liabilities 7  � 117  90 247 
total current liabilities  69 484  113 458 

total liabilities  76 802 123 077

total liablities and equity  492 591 543 347

BAlAnCe SHeet At 31 DeCeMBer
Kitron ASA

oslo, 22 March 2007

Carl espen Wollebekk
Chairman

Arne Solberg
Deputy chairman 

Kjell erik Almskog
Board member

nerijus Dagilis
Board member

ian Hague 
Board member

titas Sereika
Board member

preben Jensen
employee representative

liv Johansen
employee representative

leif Henriksen
employee representative

Jørgen Bredesen
president and Ceo 
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(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Cash flow from operational activities
ordinary loss before tax  (4 480) (5 601)
periodens betalte skatt  - -
ordinary depreciation  5 109 5 345
Change in accounts receivable  (15 590) 10 313
Change in accounts payable  - 247
Change in pension funds/obligations  (274) (1 145)
Change in other accrual items  6�6 (14 699)
net cash flow from operational activities  (14 599) (5 540)

Cash flow from investment activities
Acquisition of tangible fixed assets  295 (747)
Acquisition of shares in other companies  - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries  (6 �19) (71 165)
rapayment of lendings  600 22 950
loan disbursement  (8�2) -
net cash flow from investment activities  (6 256) (48 962)

Cash flow from financing activities
new long-term loans  - -
repayment of long-term loans  (2 027) (5 657)
repayment of short-term loans  (87 129) 38 926
net change in overdraft facilities  41 874 (9 753)
equity paid in  - 90 760
net cash flow from financing activities  (47 282) 114 276

net change in cash and cash equivalents  (68 1�7) 59 774
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  80 916 21 142
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  12 779 80 916

CASH FloW StAteMent
Kitron ASA
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noteS to tHe ACCountS

AccountinG principles
the annual accounts have been prepared 
in accordance with the norwegian Account-
ing Act and norwegian generally-accepted 
accounting principles (ngAAp). All amounts 
are in noK 1 000 unless otherwise stated. 

income recoGnition 
income from the sale of goods and services 
is recognised at the time of delivery. 

clAssifyinG And recoGnisinG 
Assets And liAbilities 
Assets intended for long-term ownership or 
use are classified as fixed. other assets are 
classified as current. Accounts receivable 
which fall due within one year are always 
classified as current assets. Analogue criteria 
are applied in classifying liabilities.

Current assets are recognised at the lower 
of cost price and fair value. Current liabilities 
are recognised in the balance sheet at the 
nominal value on the establishment date.

Fixed assets are recognised at their 
acquisition cost. tangible fixed assets which 
decline in value are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their expected useful lifetime. 
Fixed assets are written down to their fair 
value where this is lower than the cost price 
and the decline in value is not considered 
to be temporary. long-term debt in norwe-
gian kroner, with the exception of other pro-
visions, is recognised at the nominal value on 
the establishment date. provisions are dis-
counted if the interest element is significant.

intAnGible fixed Assets 
intangible fixed assets, excluding deferred 
tax benefit, consist of goodwill. goodwill is 
amortised on a straight-line basis over its 
expected useful life.

tAnGible fixed Assets 
tangible fixed assets are recognised in the 
balance sheet and depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their expected useful lifetime if 
they have and expected lifetime of more than 
three years and a cost price which exceeds 
noK 15 000. Maintenance costs for tangi-
ble fixed assets are recognised as an oper-
ating expense as they arise, while upgrades 

or improvements are added to the cost price 
of the asset and depreciated accordingly. 
the distinction between maintenance and 
upgrading/improvement is calculated in rela-
tion to the condition of the asset when it was 
acquired.

leased fixed assets are recognised in the 
balance sheet as tangible fixed assets if the 
lease is regarded as financial. 

subsidiAries
Subsidiaries are recognised in the company 
accounts using the cost method. the invest-
ment is written down to its fair value when 
the fair value is lower than the cost price and 
this fall in value is not expected to be tem-
porary.

Accounts receivAble 
Accounts receivable from customers and 
other receivables are recorded at their nomi-
nal value after deducting a provision for bad 
debts. the latter is based on an individual 
assessment of each receivable. An unspeci-
fied provision is made for minor receivables 
to cover estimated bad debts.

short-term plAcements
Short-term placements (shares regarded as 
current assets) are recognised at the lower 
of their average cost price and their fair 
value on the balance sheet date. Dividends 
received and other payments are recognised 
as other financial income.

foreiGn currencies
Holdings in foreign currencies are translated 
at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet 
date.

pensions 
pension costs and obligations are calculated 
on a linear earning of pension rights, based 
on assumptions concerning the discount rate, 
future pay adjustments, state pensions and 
other social security benefits, the expected 
return on pension fund assets, and actuarial 
assumptions on mortality, voluntary retire-
ment and so forth. pension funds are recog-
nised in the balance sheet at their fair value 
less net pension commitments. Changes in 
pension commitments relating to changes 
in pension plans are allocated over the aver-
age remaining period of service. the same 

applies to variances in underlying pension 
assumptions to the extent that these exceed 
10 per cent of the larger of pension commit-
ments and pension fund assets (corridor). 
payroll tax is expensed for funded (collective) 
pension plans, and accrued in accordance 
with changes in the pension commitment for 
unfunded pensions.

the company terminated its collective 
funded defined benefit pension plan at 31 
December 2005, and established a defined 
contribution plan.

tAx 
tax cost in the profit and loss account com-
prises the sum of tax payable for the period 
and changes to deferred tax or deferred tax 
assets. Deferred tax is calculated at a rate 
of 28 per cent on the basis of temporary dif-
ferences between accounting and tax values, 
plus possible tax loss for carrying forward at 
the end of the fiscal year. tax increasing 
and reducing temporary differences which 
reverse or could reverse in the same period 
are eliminated. and are recorded net in the 
balance sheet. recognition of deferred tax 
assets on net tax-reducing differences which 
have not been eliminated, and tax loss for 
carrying forward, is based on expected future 
earnings. Deferred tax and tax assets which 
can be recognised in the balance sheet are 
stated net.

tax on group contribution paid which is 
recognised as an increase in the cost price of 
shares in other companies, and tax on group 
contribution received which is recognised 
directly against equity, is recognised directly 
against tax in the balance sheet (against 
tax payable if the group contribution has an 
effect on tax payable and against deferred 
tax if the group contribution has an effect on 
deferred tax).

cAsh flow stAtement
the cash flow statement is prepared using 
the indirect method. Cash and cash equiv-
alents include cash in hand, bank deposits 
and other short-term liquid placements which 
immediately and with insignificant currency 
risk can be converted to known amounts of 
cash and with a maturity which is less than 
three months from the acquisition date.
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note 1 finanCial risK

interest rate risk
interest on the group’s interest-bearing debt is charged at the relevant market rate prevailing at any given time (three months norwegian 
interbank offered rate - niBor - plus the agreed interest margin). no interest rate instruments have been eetablished in the company. the 
company does not have significant interest-bearing assets, so that its income and cash flow from operational activities are not significantly 
exposed to changes in the market interest rate.

Currency risk
exchange rate developments represent a risk for the company both directly and indirectly. no contracts which reduce this risk had been 
concluded at 31 December 2006.

price risk
the raw materials price risk for the company’s business is small. nevertheless, the risk of price fluctuations is hedged through long-term 
purchase contracts as well as the conclusion of strategic agreements with suppliers and other players in the market.

note 2 sales revenues

Kitron provides development, industrialisation and manufacturing services to the electronics industry in various geographical areas and 
market segments. given that the parent company’s revenues cannot be said to relate to significant different segments, the sales revenues 
are not broken down further into segments.

the business of Kitron ASA is administration of its subsidiaries, and revenues consist primarily of group contributions.

sales revenues by geographical area

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

norway 17 601 18 896
Sweden 7 21� 6 387
lithuania 2 98� 2 209
total 27 797  27 492 

note � payroll Costs

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

pay  14 889  5 930 

payroll taxes  2 479  3 173 

pension costs  24�  1 391 

other remuneration  1 295  1 138 
total  18 906  11 632 

Average number of employees 11 10

note 4 pension Costs, funDs anD Commitments

employees in Kitron ASA are covered by pension plans which give right to defined future benefits. until 31 December 2005, all employees in 
Kitron were covered by funded defined benefit plans (with life insurance companies). At 31 December 2005, the funded plans were discon-
tinued and replaced with a contribution based pension scheme. the plan embraces 24 employees

employees in Kitron ASA are also covered by unfunded defined benefit plans (AFp early retirement scheme).

unfunded benefits

net pension commitments can be specified as follows:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

present value of accrued pension commitments  7 050  7 459 
- value of pension fund assets  -    -   
+/- unamortised variances from estimates  268  250 
+/- accrued payroll taxes  -    117 
net pension commitments/(funds)  7 �18  7 592 
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pension costs for the year comprise:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

+ present value of pension earnings for the year  467  339 
+ interest expense on accrued pension commitments  40  23 
– expected return on pension fund assets  -    -   
+ amortisation of variances from estimates  (8)  -   
+ payroll taxes -  51 
net pension cost for unfunded plans  499  412 
termination recognised in the profit and loss account*  1 688 
net pension costs included in note 3  499  2 100

*  termination recognised in the profit and loss account refers to recognition of pension commitments, premium for technical insurance underfunding,
administration reserve and payroll taxes at termination, as well as premium payments related to the terminated scheme.

the following assumptions have been applied in calculating pension commitments:

2006 2005

Discount rate 4.25% 4.3%
expected return on pension funds 5.5% 5.3%
Annual pay adjustment 4.0% 2.9%
inflation �.5% 2.9%
pension adjustments �.5% 2.4%
payroll taxes 14.1% 14.1%
expected utilisation rate (AFp) �0.0% 30.0%

note 5 tanGible fixeD assets anD DepreCiation

(Amounts in noK 1000) Machinery and equipment

Acquisition cost at 1 January 18 910 
Additions during the year  585 
Acquisition cost at 31 December  19 495 

Accumulated depreciation 1 January  14 290 
Depreciation during the year  3 009 
Accumulated depreciation at 31 December  17 299 

Book value 31 December  2 196 

useful lifetime 3 to 5 years
Depreciation plan linear

annual lease of fixed assets unrecognised in the balance sheet

Fixed asset  (Amounts in noK 1000) length of lease Annual rent

premises 2007 410
operating equipment 2010 118
Vehicles 2009 302

the company has an option to buy leased printers
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note 6 intanGible fixeD assets

(Amounts in noK 1000) goodwill

Acquisition cost at 1 January 15 146
Additions during the year -
Acquisition cost at 31 December 15 146

Accumulated amortisation at 31 December 12 600

Book value 31 December 2 546

ordinary amortisation for the year 2 100
useful lifetime 5 years

goodwill is amortised over its expected useful lifetime

note 7 intra-Group aCCounts

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Current receivables  57 508  44 371 
Current liabilities 202 88 847
intra-group loans  15 802  14 970 

note 8 taxes

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

tax payable -   -   
Change in deferred tax  -    -   
total tax cost  -    -   

Calculation of tax base for the year:
loss before tax  (4 480)  (5 601)
permanent differencies   *)  60  (1 995)
Change in temporary differencies  2 620  (2 924)
tax base for the year  (1 800 )  (10 520)

overview of temporary differencies
receivables  (�9)  (55)
Fixed assets  (5 016)  (2 658) 
pensions  (7 �18)  (7 591) 
gain and loss account  2 202  2 753 
total  (10 171)  (7 551) 
loss carried forward  (161 071)  (159 271) 
total  (171 242)  (166 822) 
28 % deferred tax  (47 948)  (46 710) 
Deferred tax unrecorded in the balance sheet  (28 952)  (27 714 ) 
Deferred tax asset  18 996 18 996

explanation of why tax cost for the year does not equal 28% of pre-tax result
28% of loss before tax  (1 254)  (1 568) 
permanent differencies (28%)  17  (559) 
effect of deferred tax asset unrecorded in balance sheet  1 2�8  2 127 
Calculated tax cost - -

effektive tax rate **) 0.0% 0.0%

  * include non-tax deductible costs such as entertainment and issue expenses. 
** tax cost in relation to pre-tax result.
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note 9 investment in subsiDiaries

Company  (Amounts in noK 1000)  Business office
Share-

holding Voting share
equity 

past year
result 

past year
Book 
value

Kitron AS Arendal 100% 100% 77 317 29 419 232 337
Kitron Microelectronics AS røros 100% 100% 19 252 6 618 15 848
Kitron Sourcing AS oslo 100% 100% 8 740 (493) 11 400
Kitron AB Karlskoga, Sweden 100% 100% 9 736 (8 145) 44 696
Kitron Microelectronics AB Jönköping, Sweden 100% 100% 18 509 14 952 13 463
Kitron Flen AB Flen, Sweden 100% 100% 1 088 (4 843) 31 332
uAB Kitron Kaunas, lithuania 100% 100% 48 983 12 897 29 180
total investment in subsidiaries 378 256

the kitron As subsidiary owns shares in the following subsidiary:

Company
 Business 

office
Share- 

holding Voting share
Book 
value

Kilsund teknologi AS Arendal 100% 100% 1 141

note 10 investment in other Companies

Company name
 Business 

office
Share-

holding
Voting 
share

Cost
price

Book
value

telespor AS Bærum 5% 5% 26 26

note 11 equity

(Amounts in noK 1000) Share capital
Share 

premium fund total equity

At 31 December 2005 (see note 21) 172 962 247 307 420 269
net loss -  (4 480) (4 480)
At 31 December 2006 172 962 242 827 415 789

note 12 shares anD subsCription riGhts senior employees

there are at 31 December 2006 no outstanding subscription rights.

the overview below shows the number of shares held by directrors and member of the corporate management team at 31 December 2006

Board number of shares

Carl espen Wollebekk, chairman  -   
Arne Solberg, deputy chairman 1  -   
nerijus Dagilis, director 2 -
titas Sereika, director 3 -
ian Hague, director  4 -
Kjell Almskog, director  -   
liv ester Johansen, director  -   
preben Jensen, director  -   
leif Henriksen, director -
trygve Størseth, observer    -
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Corporate management number of shares

Jørgen Bredesen, president and Ceo 50 000 
erling Svela, CFo -
Jan Sigvartsen, vice president 5  110 000 

leif tore Smedås, vice president  52 787 
Jan liholt, vice president  87 660
gard eliassen, vice president -
Almante Medziausiene, vice president -

1  Arne Solberg is CFo in Kongsberg gruppen ASA, which owns 33 439 153 shares (19.33 per cent) in Kitron ASA
2 nerijus Dagilis is chairman of uAB Hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA
3 titas Sereika is a director in uAB Hermis Capital, which owns 69 134 583 shares (39.97 per cent) in Kitron ASA
4 ian Hague is a board member of Amber trust ii, which holds 23 672 000 shares (13.69 per cent) in Kitron ASA. Amber trust is a joint venture in which  

Mr. Hague is among the ultimate owners. Mr. Hague has less than 1 per cent beneficial ownership in the shares held by Amber trust ii.
5 Jan Sigvartsen is chairman and  50 per cent owner of the shares in Karajan AS. Karajan AS owns 110 000 shares (0.06 per cent) in Kitron ASA

note 1� shares anD shareholDers information

the company’s share capital at 31 December 2006 comprised 172 961 625 shares with a nominal value of noK 1 each. each share carries 
one vote.
there were 3 395 shareholders at 31 December 2006. 

the 20 largest shareholders in Kitron asa at �1 December 2006:

Shareholder number percentage

Clearstream Banking S.A.  51 856 000 29.98%
Kongsberg gruppen ASA  33 439 153 19.33%
ing luxembourg SA  23 822 000 13.77%
SeB Vilniaus Bankas  17 977 656 10.39%
Mp pensjon  10 406 211 6.02%
Stiftelsen Statoils pensjonskasse  1 873 855 1.08%
A/S Bemacs  1 700 606 0.98%
AS Hansabank clients  1 664 530 0.96%
parentz AS  1 600 650 0.93%
Verdipapirfondet norDeA SMB  1 167 984 0.68%
Statoil Forsikring AS  1 088 670 0.63%
petter torgersen  636 000 0.37%
Bjørn Håheim  507 637 0.29%
Morgan Stanley & Co. intl. ltd  400 000 0.23%
Malvin Skjønhaug  395 685 0.23%
A/S Skjærdalen eiendom  386 326 0.22%
Vestvik preservering A/S  300 000 0.17%
leif Johansen  266 000 0.15%
Stein-Arne Mikalsen Stangeland  253 824 0.15%
nordea Bank Denmark AS  221 768 0.13%
total 20 largest shareholders  149 964 555 86.70%
total other shareholders  22 997 070 13.30%
total outstanding shares  172 961 625 100.00%

note 14 remuneration of senior exeCutives, DireCtors anD auDitor

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Directors’ fees 924 860
   – chairman 200 200
   – directors 724 660
Auditor’s fee - -
   – legally required audit 208 473
   – other non-auditing services 5�8 793
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pay and other remuneration of senior executives in 2006:
(Amounts in noK 1000)

name Functinon period Fee pay Bonus

other 
short-
term 

remu-
neration

Sever-
ance 

pay

total 
pay and 

remu-
neration

pension 
contribu-

tion

Jan t. Jørgensen Ceo 01.01.2006 - 15.05.2006 1 032 200 158 4 400 5 790 140
Jørgen Bredesen Ceo 18.05.2006 - 31.12.2006 1 466 99 1 565 97
Morten Jurs CFo 01.01.2006 - 31.10.2006 1 311 585 113 2 009 30
erling Svela CFo 01.11.2006 - 31.12.2006 190 26 216 6
Jonas eklind Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.10.2006 1 373 61 64 1 497 333
Vidar Hole Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.01.2006 139 71 11 221 3
Jan liholt Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 1 020 50 92 1 162 36
Almante Medziausiene Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 430 430
Jan Sigvartsen Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 1 483 100 120 1 703 36
leif tore Smedås Vice president 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 874 170 116 1 160 36
gard eliassen Vice president 11.12.2006 - 31.12.2006 68 9 77 3
total 9 386 1 237 808 4 400 15 830 720

Christian Bjelland Chairman 01.01.2005 - 16.08.2005 58 58
nerijus Dagilis Chairman/director 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 142 142
Carl espen Wollebekk Chairman 11.05.2006 - 31.12.2006 0
Arne Solberg Deputy chairman 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 90 90
Annette Malm Justad Director 16.08.2005 - 26.09.2005 10 10
per-erik Mohlin Director 01.01.2006 - 11.05.2006 170 170
titas Sereika Director 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 64 64
Kjell e. Almskog Director 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 160 160
ian Hague Director 11.05.2006 - 31.12.2006 0

liv Johansen
Director (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 90 90

preben Jensen
Director (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 90 90

leif Henriksen
Director (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 20 20

Magnus B. lindseth observer 01.01.2006 - 11.05.2006 10 10

trygve Størseth
observer (employee 
representative) 01.01.2006 - 31.12.2006 20 20

total 924 924

the table above comprises salaries and remunerations reported for tax purposes in 2006. pension contribution include paid contribution to 
the company’s pension scheme. For employee representatives only fee is declared.
president and Ceo Jan t. Jørgensen resigned 15 May 2006 in agreement with the Board of Directors.  remunerations in 2006 also embrace 
severance pay according to the agreement.
CFo Morten Jurs left the company 31 october 2006. Vice president Vidar Hole left the company 31 January 2006.
Vice president in Kitron AB Jonas eklind resigned in agreement with the company 31 october 2006. 
there are made provisions for management bonuses at 31 December 2006. the bonuses will be paid when the annual accounts for 2006 are 
approved by the Board of Directors.

declArAtion of remunerAtion to senior executives
the table above includes information on all individuals covered by the disclosure obligation at any time during the year, while this declaration 
is limited to the president and Ceo and the vice presidents. the president and Ceo is covered by the same schemes as the vice presidents 
unless otherwise stated.

recommended executive remuneration policy
Kitron wants to offer competitive terms in order for the company to attract and retain competent managers, and at the same time achieve 
alignment of interest between management and shareholders. the remuneration and other terms of employment for the executives reflect a 
number of factors, such as the position itself and the market conditions. the remuneration comprises a reasonable basic salary and a pension 
contribution plus a cash bonus, which is principally linked to the company’s performance. For the president and Ceo the total bonus may not 
amount to more than 125 per cent of base salary. For the vice presidents the total bonus is limited to 100 per cent of base salary. Kitron does 
not offer other substantial bebnefits in kind than company cars. Certain tools, which are needed to perform executive duties, are reported for 
tax purposes and are included in the amoiunts in the table above. 
Kitron will honour all employment agreements which are in effect. Future supplements to employment agreements and new employment 
agreements will be in accordance with these guidelines.
the board determines the remuneration and other terms of employment of the presiden and Ceo. the president and Ceo determines the 
remuneration and other terms of employmment of the vice presidents within the framework resolved by the board.
the vice presidents are members of Kitron’s general pension contribution scheme. the age of retirement is 67 years. the annual pension 
contribution to the president and Ceo is noK 150 thousand. the contribution is coordinated with the contribution to the general scheme. 
the president and Ceo’s age of retirement is 65 years. 
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the president and Ceo may under certain circumstances have a right to receive twelve months’ post-employment compensation. there is no 
other post-employment remuneration or employment protection beyond a normal notice period.

mandatory executive remuneration policy
on 22 March 2007 the board resolved to introduce a bonus scheme for the vice presidents and a large number of selected managers and 
specialists. the bonus is calculated from any actual increase in the share price of up to 2.0 million underlying shares. Half of the number of 
shares is reserved for others than the vice presidents. At the same time, the board resolved a corresponding scheme for the president and 
Ceo, based on 0.5 million underlying shares.
the incentive will consist of a cash bonus calculated on the basis of any actual increase in the share price on a number of underlying shares. 
no shares or options are issued. the participants will receive a bonus amounting to the increase in the share price in the period between the 
publication of the preliminary annual result for one year and the publication of the next year’s preliminary result.
grants are allocated over a period of three years. For the president and Ceo the full grant is made in 2007. Any payments under the scheme 
will be made in February 2008, 2009 and 2010 and are conditional on the recipient remaining employed by Kitron in a participating position.
if the scheme is fully utilized, all recipients together will receive a gain of noK 583 thousand for each noK 0.50 increase in the share price 
during the course of a year. Any gain for the president and Ceo and the vice presidents is limited by inclusion in the bonus restriction stated 
above. For other recipients, any annual gain cannot exceed 50 per cent of base salary.
During the period from the time of grant to the time any gain is paid the company must book a provision for the expected cost of the scheme. 
the accrued portion of the fair value of the grants is recognized in the interim financial statements. if this value is reduced from one quarter 
to the next, a cost reversal will take place.
the scheme is not dilutive, and it leads to clearly aligned interests of management and shareholders.
the board does not now want to prepare new share-based incentive programmes for the group management or other employees for 2008. 
Any such programmes will be presented for consideration at the general meeting 2008.

note 15 reCeivables

noK 15 802 of the noK 15 802 in intra-group loans at 31 December 2006 falls due later than one year after the end of the fiscal year.

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Kitron AS - 4 500
Kitron Microelectronics AS 6 220 -
Kitron AB 9 582 10 470
total 15 802 14 970

iin addition the company has a receivable of noK 5 612 000 regarding group contribution from Kitron Microelectronics AS. this is classified 
as other receivable. 

note 16 information on lonG-term liabilities to finanCial institutions

the company has no long-term debt at 31 December 2006.
the group’s bank financing includes covenants relating to such factors as the company’s equity and earnings. Due to restructuring costs 
and acquisition of minority in uAB Kitron the company did not comply with these covenants at 31 December 2005. However, through a 
dialogue with the banks in the subsequent period waivers were issued. the conditions for the loans were renegotiated and and the company 
was in compliance with covenants at the date when the accounts were presented.
the company complies with the covenants at 31 December 2006.
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note 17 mortGaGes

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Debt secured by mortgages: 60 150 23 000

Carriying amount of assets provided as security:

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

Machinery and equipment  2 196  4 620 
investment in subsidiaries  �78 257  371 938 
receivables  70 �09  60 405 
total  450 762  411 954 

the company’s bankers had provided guarantees of noK  2 million for tax due but not paid in Kitron ASA.

note 18 liquiD assets

Kitron ASA has established a group account agreement with the company’s principal banks. this embraces Kitron ASA and certain of its 
norwegian subsidiaries. the annual accounts for Kitron ASA present net deposits/drawings for all the group companies included in the 
scheme. this means that the net deposits/drawings by subsidiaries are recognised as a balance with Kitron ASA.

the company has a cash deposit of noK 10 million related to the group’s factoring agreement with DnB nor Finans.  

note 19 relateD parties

no loans/security have been provided for the chief executive, the chairman or other related parties.
no single loan/security totals more than five per cent of the company’s equity.

note 20 items ConsoliDateD in the aCCounts

(Amounts in noK 1000) 2006 2005

financial income
other financial income  5 887  71 
Currency gain  �22  159 
total financial income  6 209  230 

financial expenses 2006 2005

other financial expenses  1 090  1 155 
Currency loss  214  99 
total financial expenses  1 �04  1 254

note 21 CorreCtion for prior perioD errors

in the annual accounts for 2006 life-long pension benefit to former Ceo is incorporated. this obligation has not been incorporated in previ-
ous annual accounts.

the annual accounts for 2006 are affected by a decrease of share premium fund at 1 January 2005 of noK 4 780 000, an increase of de-
ferred tax asset of noK 1 859 000 and an increase of the company’s pension commitments of noK 6 639 000 at the same date. the profit 
and loss account for 2005 is not affected.
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it is Kitron’s intent to practice corpo-
rate governance in accordance with 
laws and regulations and recommenda-
tions by oslo Børs under the “comply 
or explain” concept. the requirements 
are expanding and undergoing change. 
the instant review is based on the nor-
wegian code of practice for corporate 
governance dated 28 november 2006 
(“the Code”). 

the board of Kitron has prepared 
and implemented ethical guidelines 
which reflect Kitron’s basic corporate 
values. 

business
the company’s business is stated as 
follows in its articles of association:

“Manufacturing activities, purchase 
and sale of shares and companies, devel-
opment and sale of products in an inter-
national market, consultancy activities 
and all activities associated therewith.”

the board will put forward a proposal 
for a change in the articles of associ-
ation for consideration by the 2007 
annual general meeting whereby the 
business will be stated more clearly.

Kitron’s objectives and principal 
strategies are presented elsewhere in 
this annual report. it is the board’s opin-
ion that these objectives and strategies 
are within the scope of the present and 
the proposed statement of Kitron’s busi-
ness in the articles of association.  

equity And dividends 
the company’s total capital at 31 
December 2006 amounted to noK 
629.0 million. total equity at the same 
date was noK 185.7 million, corre-
sponding to an equity ratio of 19.4 per 
cent. Considering the nature and scope 
of Kitron’s business, the board considers 
that the company has adequate equity, 
albeit less than desired. By profitable 

operations, the equity will increase. 
existing mandates are presented in 

the shareholder information section of 
this annual report. Future proposals 
by the board for mandates to increase 
the company’s share capital and to 
purchase own shares will be drawn up 
according to the recommendations in 
the Code. 

provided that the company’s equity 
and liquidity positions after any dividend 
payment remain adequate, Kitron ASA 
will pay a dividend corresponding to 30-
50 per cent of net profit.

shAres, equAl treAtment 
of shAreholders And 
trAnsActions with close 
AssociAtes
the shares are freely negotiable. no 
form of restriction on negotiability is 
included in the articles of association. 
All Kitron shares have equal voting rights 
and there is only one class of share. no 
shares were issued and no transactions 
in own shares were carried out in 2006. 

Kitron has established guidelines 
and control procedures through insider 
rules. Kitron’s ethical guidelines instruct 
members of the board and the execu-
tive management to notify the board if 
they have any material direct or indirect 
interest in any transaction entered into 
by the company.

All transactions with close associates 
are disclosed in the notes to the financial 
statements. Kitron has a long-term con-
tinuing business relationship with Kongs-
berg gruppen ASA, which is also a sig-
nificant shareholder in Kitron. the busi-
ness is based on arm’s length terms. in 
the event of transactions with insiders or 
close associates, such transactions will 
be carried out in accordance with the rel-
evant recommendations in the Code. 

GenerAl meetinGs
Shareholders exercise the ultimate 
authority in Kitron through the annual 
general meeting. All shareholders are 
entitled to attend a general meeting, 
where representatives of the board, the 
nomination committee and the auditor 
are present. notice of the meeting, the 
agenda and detailed and comprehen-
sive supporting information on the reso-
lutions to be considered, including the 
nomination committee’s justified rec-
ommendations, are issued and distrib-
uted at least two weeks before a general 
meeting takes place. For administrative 
purposes, the shareholders must give 
notice of their intention to attend the 
meeting two working days before the 
meeting at the latest. 

the general meeting deals with such 
matters as required by norwegian law, 
including adoption of the annual finan-
cial statements and the directors’ report. 
it also elects directors and the external 
auditor. the board keeps the general 
meeting informed about existing remu-
neration and incentive programmes. 
Shareholders who cannot attend the 
meeting in person can vote by proxy 
and voting instructions can be given on 
each matter on the agenda. 

the general meetings are opened 
by the chairman of the board. normally 
the board proposes that the chairman 
of the board shall also chair the general 
meetings. the board will propose an 
independent chairman for the general 
meeting if any of the matters to be con-
sidered calls for it.

the notices and minutes of the 
general meetings are published in 
oslo Børs’ company disclosure system  
(www.newsweb.no, ticker: Kit) and on 
Kitron’s web site.  

CorporAte goVernAnCe

these principles clarify the division of roles between shareholders, board members 
and executive management, and help safeguard the interests of shareholders, 
employees and other stakeholders such as customers and suppliers. the primary 
motivation is the desire to create increased predictability and transparency, and 
thereby reduce uncertainties associated with the business. 

5�



nominAtion committee 
the company has a nomination com-
mittee elected by the general meeting 
in 2006. the present committee has the 
following members, of which one is a 
board member: 

Darius Janulevicius, chairman  
(until the 2008 AgM)
Kustaa aima (until the 2008 AgM) 
arne solberg (until the 2008 AgM)

the board will put forward a proposal for 
a change in the articles of association 
for consideration by the 2007 annual 
general meeting whereby the nomina-
tion committee will be laid down in the 
articles of association. Furthermore, the 
board will put forward a proposed man-
date for the nomination committee for 
consideration by the 2007 annual gen-
eral meeting, the future composition of 
the committee and its procedures shall 
be in accordance with the recommen-
dations in the Code.

boArd of directors: 
composition And 
independence
the nomination committee, on which 
the largest shareholders are repre-
sented, proposes candidates for elec-
tion to the board. Board members are 
elected for two-year terms. 

According to the Code the chairman 
of the board should be elected by the 
general meeting. the chairman of the 
board of Kitron is elected by the board 
itself. Kitron considers this to be practi-
cal. Should the general meeting so wish, 
it can elect the chairman of the board 
separately.

the present board has the following 
shareholder-elected members:

Carl espen wollebekk, chairman  
(until the 2008 AgM)
arne solberg, deputy chairman  
(until the 2008 AgM)
Kjell e. almskog (until the 2007 AgM)
nerijus Dagilis (until the 2007 AgM)
ian hague (until the 2008 AgM)
titas sereika (until the 2007 AgM)

the board’s composition shall ensure 
that it can effectively and proactively 
perform its supervisory and strategic 
functions. Furthermore, the board is 
composed to enable it to always act 
independently of special interests. 
three of the six shareholder-elected 
board members represent shareholders 
uAB Hermis Capital and Kongsberg 
gruppen ASA, the company’s princi-
pal shareholders. All the shareholder-
elected directors are independent of the 
company management. Further infor-

mation on the members of the board is 
presented in the annual report. 

the work of the boArd of 
directors
the board has an overall responsibil-
ity for safeguarding the interests of all 
shareholders and other stakeholders. 
Furthermore, it is the board’s duty and 
responsibility to exercise overall control 
of the company, and to supervise the 
management and the company’s oper-
ations. the division of roles between 
board and management is specified 
in Kitron’s rules of procedure for the 
board. the board has established an 
annual meeting plan for its work which 
includes meetings with a special focus 
on strategy and budgeting.

the board has not considered it nec-
essary to perform a formal evaluation of 
its performance and expertise.  

Kitron’s board will serve as a con-
structive and qualified sparring part-
ner for the management. one of its key 
duties is to define appropriate strat-
egies for the company. it is important 
in this context that the board, in coop-
eration with the management, ensures 
that the necessary strategies are con-
tinuously developed and followed up, 
and that they are implemented. Kitron 
has defined performance parameters 
for the strategies adopted which enable 
the company to measure performance 
against specific success factors.

the board receives relevant financial 
reports on a monthly basis. the underly-
ing data for these reports are prepared 
by each reporting unit. the information 
is checked, consolidated and processed 
by the group’s corporate financial staff 
to produce the reports submitted to the 
board. reporting also covers relevant 
operational matters. the group does 
not have a separate internal audit func-
tion. Controls on the accounts are exer-
cised through various forms of division 
of labour, guidelines and approval rou-
tines. the corporate financial staff is 
responsible for establishing guidelines 
and principles. the group’s financial 
transactions are handled by the corpo-
rate finance staff. responsibility for the 
commercial content of significant pro-
curement contracts rests with the cor-
porate sourcing organisation.

Annual evaluations of the manage-
ment and its performance are con-
ducted by the board. these evaluations 
also cover an assessment of coopera-
tion between board and management. 
the results of these evaluations repre-
sent an important element in remuner-
ation and incentive programmes. Such 

programmes are described in the notes 
to the financial statements.

to date, it has not been considered 
necessary to establish board commit-
tees due to the size of the board. if 
deemed necessary board committees 
may be established as appropriate.  

risk mAnAGement And 
internAl control 
Kitron’s business consists of operating 
contract manufacturing and develop-
ment services for product owning com-
panies who are outsourcing such serv-
ices. there are no unusual or conspicu-
ous risks beyond those which any light 
industry operation are exposed to.

Contract manufacturing of electron-
ics is a highly competitive industry, pre-
senting the company with an inherent 
business risk related to Kitron’s ability 
firstly to attract and retain customers 
who are and will be predictable and suc-
cessful in their respective markets and 
secondly to make a just profit margin on 
our business. Kitron’s customer portfolio 
consists of reputable companies operat-
ing in various segments. Several of our 
customers are world leaders in their 
respective fields. We believe the cus-
tomer portfolio is robust and well bal-
anced. the top 20 customers account 
for about 80 per cent of Kitron’s reve-
nue. our value proposition to our cus-
tomers contains flexibility, competence, 
quality, closeness and full value chain 
capability. While recognizing the con-
tinuous demand for improvement and 
cost efficiency, we consider these com-
petitive advantages defendable and are 
confident that we shall maintain a via-
ble, leading and adaptive business.

Kitron is organized in distinct manu-
facturing sites, each fully accountable 
for its own revenue stream and capital 
employment. the structure facilitates 
closeness between management and 
operation, which in turn provides good 
oversight and adequate internal busi-
ness control. the structure also allows 
for a slim corporate centre whose pri-
mary task is parenting and coordination 
of the sites.

Kitron’s current cost base for opera-
tions consists of material cost, employee 
cost and plant and machinery cost. the 
material cost is to a large degree priced 
in international currencies, with prices 
set or derived from global raw material 
and component markets. 

employee and plant costs are 
incurred in respective local currencies, 
namely noK, SeK and ltl. Machinery 
investments are predominantly inter-
nationally priced. Kitron’s revenues are 
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largely noK and SeK, and also uSD 
and eur, with currency and raw mate-
rial clauses included when appropriate. 
the company considers the mix as rea-
sonably balanced, and that an effective 
long-term hedging strategy for the net 
profit would be extremely complex and 
costly to operate. in competitive terms, 
appreciation of Kitron’s local curren-
cies will be an advantage for competi-
tors with their cost base in foreign cur-
rencies. the currency effect may be 
amplified or moderated by differences 
in inflation.

to balance the financial risk and 
shareholder’s interests, the equity ratio 
should be in the range between 25 per 
cent and 40 per cent. Kitron’s equity 
ratio was 19 per cent at the end of 
2006. Kitron’s debt is predominantly 
short-term. this is a result of corporate 
history and inadequate profitability over 
several years. the company will seek to 
reduce this risk by obtaining long-term 
debt to replace short-term and expand 
the company’s funding base.

Kitron does not employ any off-bal-
ance sheet instruments for hedging or 
leverage, or for funding. the company 
has enterd into conventional financial 
leasing agreements, which are reported 
in the financial statements.

the health, safety and environmen-
tal risks are limited and well managed, 
and Kitron’s iSo quality systems are 
certified by certification agencies and 
also inspected and approved by sev-
eral of our customers. in 2006, Kitron 
installed equipment and implemented 
procedures to comply with the eu direc-
tive for so-called ‘lead-free electron-
ics’ for all products where the directive 
applies.

Kitron’s customers are professional 
product-owning companies, which pur-
chase the manufacturing service – less 
than the full product as such – from 
Kitron. thus, Kitron’s product liability 
risk is negligible.

remunerAtion of the boArd 
of directors
the remuneration to is the board mem-
bers shall reflect responsibility, exper-
tise, time spent and the character of 
Kitron’s business. the remuneration is 
not linked to the company’s perform-
ance or share price. 

Board members may perform special 
assignments for the company in addition 
to their directorship. Such assignments, 
if any, are reported to the full board and 
disclosed in the annual report. no such 
special assignments have been carried 
out during 2006. 

information about each director’s 
remuneration, including shares and sub-
scription rights, is provided in the notes 
to the financial statements. 

remunerAtion of senior 
executives 
guidelines to the Ceo for remunera-
tion to senior executives have been 
resolved by the board. the guidelines 
are reported in a note to the financial 
statements. 

the salary and other remuneration of 
the president and Ceo shall be decided 
by a convened meeting by the board. 

At present Kitron has no outstanding 
share option schemes or other arrange-
ments to award shares to employ-
ees. Future share option schemes or 
arrangements to award shares shall 
be approved in advance by the general 
meeting. proposals on share options 
schemes will be drawn up according to 
the recommendations in the Code. 

Kitron reports all forms of remunera-
tion received by the chief executive and 
each of the other members of the exec-
utive management. For one or more 
executives, the remuneration includes 
performance-related cash bonus and 
cash bonus related to share price devel-
opment. Details are provided in the 
notes to the financial statements.

informAtion And 
communicAtion
Kitron wants to maintain good com-
munication with its shareholders and 
other stakeholders. this duty to inform 
is based on openness, and will help to 
ensure that Kitron’s shareholders and 
other stakeholders are able to make a 
realistic assessment of the company 
and its prospects. guidelines have been 
established to ensure a flow of relevant 
and reliable financial and other informa-
tion. the group endeavours to ensure 
that all shareholders have access to the 
same information. 

All information distributed to the 
shareholders is published on Kitron’s 
web site (www.kitron.com) at the same 
time as it sent to the shareholders. Fur-
thermore, all stock exchange announce-
ments are posted on Kitron’s web site 
following publication in the oslo Stock 
exchange’s company disclosure system 
(www.newsweb.no, ticker: Kit). publicly 
presentations are held quarterly in con-
nection with the interim reports. Kitron 
presents a financial calendar every 
year with dates for important events. 
the financial calendar is published in 
the oslo Stock exchange’s company 
disclosure system and on Kitron’s web 

site. Kitron’s guidelines for reporting of 
financial and other information are pre-
sented in further details in the share-
holder information the section in the 
annual report.

At the date of this report, the com-
pany has not yet established contin-
gency plans for information manage-
ment. neither has Kitron established 
separate guidelines for the company’s 
contact with shareholders, other than 
through the general meeting. Any dia-
log with shareholders outside the gen-
eral meeting will take into account the 
requirement for equal treatment of 
shareholders and the insider informa-
tion regulations.    

tAkeovers
in the event of a take-over bid the funda-
mental principle for the board of Kitron 
will be equal treatment of all sharehold-
ers. if such a situation should arise, the 
board will comply with the recommen-
dations on takeovers in the Code. 

Auditor
pricewaterhouseCoopers AS (pwC) 
has been the company’s auditor since 
2005. pwC issued a written confirma-
tion that pWC continues to satisfy the 
requirements for independence. As part 
of the 2006 audit, pwC submitted the 
main features of the plan for the audit 
to the board. in addition, the auditor 
participated in the meeting of the board 
that dealt with the annual financial 
statements. Kitron’s accounting princi-
ples were discussed, as well as material 
estimated accounting figures and mate-
rial accounting matters on which there 
has been a discussion between pwC 
and Kitron’s management. A review of 
Kitron’s internal control procedures was 
discussed in a meeting with the board. 

if required by the board or by the 
auditor, they will hold meetings where 
neither the Ceo nor any other mem-
bers of the executive management are 
present. it was not considered necessary 
to arrange such a meeting during 2006 
or until the date of this statement. 

the board of Kitron has established 
guidelines in respect of the use of the 
auditor by the company’s executive 
management for services other than 
mandatory audit. 

pwC has provided the board with a 
summary of all services that have been 
undertaken for the company for the 
accounting year 2006. the fee paid for 
audit work and fees paid for other spe-
cific assignments are specified in the 
notes to the financial statements. 
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§ 1

the company’s name is Kitron ASA. the company is a public limited company.

§ 2
the company’s registered office shall be located in the municipality of Bærum.

§ �
the business of the company is manufacturing, purchase and sale of shares and 
companies, development and sale of products in an international market, consulting 
activities, and any activity related hereto.

§ 4
the share capital of the company is noK 172,961,625.- divided into 172,961,625 shares 
with face value noK 1.- each. the company’s shares shall be registered at  
the norwegian Central Securities Depository.

§ 5
the company’s board of directors shall have from 7 to 11 members as resolved by  
the general meeting. the board elects it own chairman. two board members can jointly 
sign for the company. the board can grant power of attorney.

§ 6
the ordinary general meeting is held each year before the end of the month of June. the 
call is distributed by letter with 14 days’ notice. the ordinary general meeting shall:

1. Consider and approve the annual report, the profit and loss statement and the  
 balance sheet for the preceding year
2. Consider and approve the application of profit or coverage of deficit according  
 to the adopted balance sheet, as well as payment of dividend
3. Consider and resolve other matters that pertain to the general meeting  
 according to norwegian law

the company may hold its general meeting in the municipality of oslo.

§ 7
Any issue that has not been resolved in these Articles of Association shall be considered 
in accordance with the regulations in the existing laws applicable  
to limited companies.

ArtiCleS oF ASSoCiAtion  
For Kitron ASA
(latest update 21 november 2005)
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shAre cApitAl
Kitron ASA has only one share class. 
each share carries one vote at the com-
pany’s general meeting. the shares are 
freely negotiable. 

Kitron ASA’s registered share capi-
tal at 31 December 2006 was noK 172 
961 625, divided between 172 961 625 
shares with a nominal value of noK 
1.00 each. the time-weighted aver-
age number of shares used as a basis 
for calculating key figures was 172 961 
625. the company had no outstanding 
options or subscription rights in 2006. 

stock mArket listinG
the company’s shares are listed on the 
oslo Stock exchange (ticker code: Kit). 

until 1 March 2006, Kitron had an 
agreement with DnB nor Markets on 
a liquidity guarantee for the company’s 
shares. under the terms of the agree-
ment, DnB nor Markets set binding 
purchase and sales prices for the shares. 
Kitron also had a market-making agree-
ment with Fondsfinans ASA. this has 
also now been terminated. 

During 2006, the share price rose 
from noK 2.92 to noK 4.95, which cor-
responds to an increase of 69.5 percent. 
At the end of 2006, the company’s mar-
ket capitalisation was noK 856.2 mil-
lion. A total of 95.0 million shares were 
traded during the year, corresponding to 
a turnover rate of 0.55. 

shAreholder structure
At the end of 2006, Kitron had 3 395 
shareholders, compared with 3 087 
shareholders at the end of 2005. At the 
same time, the overall foreign share-
holding was 56.4 percent. the Hermis 
Capital private equity fund is the com-
pany’s largest shareholder and owned 
39.97 percent of shares in Kitron ASA 
at the balance sheet date. Kongsberg 
gruppen ASA is the second largest 
shareholder, and owned 19.3 percent of 
shares in Kitron ASA as at 31 December 
2006. Kongsberg gruppen is also one 
of the company’s largest customers. 
the 20 largest shareholders collectively 
owned 86.7 percent of the company’s 
shares at the end of the year.

Authorities
increasing the share capital
the ordinary general meeting of 29 April 
2005 authorised the board to increase 
the company’s share capital by up to 
noK 10 million by means of subscrip-
tion to new shares through one or sev-
eral private placements in favour of the 
group’s key employees. the authority 
applies until 29 April 2007. the author-
ity can be used for acquisitions pursu-
ant to section 5-15 of the norwegian 
Stock exchange Act and section 4-17 of 
the norwegian Act on Security trading. 
the authority had not been exercised at 
31 December 2006. 

An extraordinary meeting on 18 
november 2005 authorised the board 
to increase the company’s share capi-
tal by up to noK 16 million. Sharehold-
ers’ pre-emptive rights can be excluded. 
the board was authorised to set the 
subscription price. the authority applies 
until 18 november 2007. in its meeting 
of 21 november 2005, Kitron’s board 
resolved to implement a private place-
ment of 15.6 million shares at a sub-
scription price of noK 2.90 per share. 
no other use has been made of this 
authority.

own shares
the board is not authorised to under-
take transactions in the company’s own 
shares.

dividend policy
Kitron ASA will pay a dividend corre-
sponding to between 30 and 50 percent 
of net profit for the year, provided the 
company’s share capital and liquidity 
situation are acceptable.

informAtion And investor 
relAtions
Kitron wishes to maintain open commu-
nications with its shareholders and other 
stakeholders. the company’s commu-
nication activities must help to ensure 
that Kitron’s shareholders and other 
stakeholders are able to make a contin-
uous assessment of the company and 
its prospects. Shareholders and other 
stakeholders in the financial market 
are kept informed by announcements 
to the oslo Stock exchange and press 
releases. Kitron’s website www.kitron.
com provides information on Kitron’s 
business and financial situation. interim 
financial statements are presented at 
meetings open to the general public.

Kitron reports all production orders 
over noK 20 million and development 
and other service orders over noK 5 mil-
lion. the group also reports on smaller 
orders if these are of strategic impor-
tance or significant in any other way.

Corporate management is respon-
sible for communication activities and 
investor relations, and also facilitates 
direct contact with the president and 
Ceo or board members.

SHAreHolDer inForMAtion
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BoArD AnD MAnAgeMent

cArl espen wollebekk
chairman
elected for the period 2006-2008

Mr. Carl espen Wollebekk (born 1961) is an 
investor and businessman. He is also a board 
member of ementor ASA and Superoffice ASA. 
He was previously CFo of tandberg Data ASA. 
prior to that, he was CFo of ementor ASA. 
He has a business degree from Copenhagen 
Business School and a Master of Business and 
Administration (MBA) degree from Schiller uni-
versity in london.  Mr. Carl espen Wollebekk is 
a norwegian citizen. 

Arne solberG
deputy chairman
elected for the period 2006-2008

Mr. Arne Solberg (born 1953) is CFo in Kongs-
berg gruppen ASA. prior to this, he has held 
several administrative positions within finance 
and management at elektrisk Bureau AS. He 
has a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the 
norwegian School of Management, Bi.  At the 
end of 2006 Kongsberg gruppen ASA control-
led 33 439 153 shares in Kitron ASA. Mr. Arne 
Solberg is a norwegian citizen. 

nerijus dAGilis
board member
elected for the period 2005-2007

Mr. nerijus Dagilis (born 1974) is a board mem-
ber and co-founder of uAB Hermis Capital. 
earlier, he was a partner in the same firm. Mr. 
nerijus Dagilis has a Master of Business and 
Administration (MBA) degree from the Central 
european university. At the end of 2006, uAB 
Hermis Capital controlled 69 134 583 shares in 
Kitron ASA. Mr. nerijus Dagilis is a lithuanian 
citizen. 

titAs sereikA
board member
elected for the period 2005-2007

Mr. titas Sereika (born 1974) is board mem-
ber and co-founder of uAB Hermis Capital. 
earlier, he was a partner in the same firm. Mr. 
titas Sereika has a bachelor of law degree from 
M. romer law university, and postgraduate 
studies in international business from Vilnius 
university, international Business School. At 
the end of 2006 uAB Hermis Capital control-
led 69 134 583 shares in Kitron ASA.  Mr. titas 
Sereika is a lithuanian citizen. 

kjell e. AlmskoG
board member
elected for the period 2006-2008

Mr. Kjell e. Almskog (born 1941) is a business 
consultant. He is also board member of Kver-
neland ASA and orkla ASA. He was earlier Ceo 
in Kværner ASA. prior to this he was deputy Ceo 
in ABB. Mr. Almskog has a Master of Business 
and Administration (MBA) degree from the uni-
versity of Kansas, uSA. He has also studied the 
Advanced Management program at Harvard 
university. Mr. Kjell e. Almskog is a norwegian 
citizen. 

iAn hAGue
board member
elected for the period 2006-2008

Mr. ian Hague (born 1961) is principal at Firebird 
Management. prior to this he has been a fund 
manager, and worked at the un secretariat. 
Mr. ian Hague has a Master of Science (MSc) 
degree in international studies from Monterey 
institute. Firebird Management is a partner in a 
joint venture, which controls 23 672 000 shares 
in Kitron ASA. Mr. ian Hague is an American 
citizen. 

liv e. johAnsen
board member elected by the employees
elected for the period 2005-2007

Mrs. liv e. Johansen (born 1953) is a production 
worker in Kitron AS. Before this, she was a test 
operator, also with Kitron AS. Mrs. Johansen has 
a Craft certificate in electronics manufacturing. 
Mrs. liv e. Johansen is a norwegian citizen.

preben jensen
board member elected by the employees
elected for the period 2005-2007

Mr. preben Jensen (born 1969) is business 
area managerin Kitron AS. Before this, he was 
account manager, also with Kitron AS. Mr. 
Jensen is an electrical engineer from the uni-
versity College in Agder. Mr. preben Jensen is a 
norwegian citizen. 

leif henriksen
board member elected by the employees
elected for the period 2005-2007

Mr. leif Henriksen (born 1953) is it manager at 
Kitron AS, Development. prior to this, he was a 
self-employed consultant. Mr. leif Henriksen is 
a graduate from the norwegian School of Man-
agement; Bi. Mr. leif Henriksen is a norwegian 
citizen. 

tryGve størseth
observer elected by the employees
elected for the period 2005-2007

Mr. trygve Størseth (born 1949) is a quality 
assurance manager at Kitron Microelectronics 
AS. Mr. trygve Størseth is a radar engineer edu-
cated from the norwegian Air Force. Mr. trygve 
Sørseth is a norwegian citizen.

jørGen bredesen
ceo
Mr. Jørgen Bredesen (born 1956) is Ceo of 
the Kitron group. prior to this he was Ceo of 
Birdstep technology ASA. Mr. Jørgen Bredesen 
has more than 20 years of international senior 
management experience from Motorola, phil-
lips, tandberg television and Birdstep technol-
ogy. At the end of 2006 Mr. Jørgen Bredesen 
held 50,000 shares in Kitron ASA. Mr. Jørgen 
Bredesen is a norwegian citizen.

erlinG svelA
cfo
Mr. erling Svela (born 1958) is CFo of the 
Kitron group. Before this he was CFo of opti-
com ASA, and earlier he was Vice president & 
group Controller in elkem ASA. Mr. Svela has a 
Master of Business and Administration (MBA) 
degree from Henley Management College, and 
a Master of Science (MSc) from the Agricultural 
university of norway. Mr. erling Svela is a nor-
wegian citizen.

jAn siGvArtsen
president kitron As
Mr. Jan Sigvartsen (born 1960) is president of 
Kitron AS. Before this he was Managing Direcor 
in impact europe as, and earlier he was Ceo in 
Heliogruppen as. He has a Master of Business 
and economics (MBe) degree from the norwe-
gian School of Management; Bi. At the end 
of 2006 Mr. Jan Sigvartsen controlled 110,000 
shares in Kitron ASA. Mr. Jan Sigvartsen is a 
norwegian citizen.

jAn liholt
business development director
Mr. Jan liholt (born 1960) is Business Develop-
mentDirector for the Kitron group. prior to this 
he has been president of Kitron Sourcing AS, 
Managing Director of Kitron AB and general 
Manager of nera electronics. He has a Bach-
elor of Science (BSc) degree. At the end of 2006 
Mr. Jan liholt held 87,660 shares in Kitron ASA. 
Mr. Jan liholt is a norwegian citizen.

leif t. smedås
president kitron microelectronics
Mr. leif t. Smedås (born 1958) is president of 
Kitron Microelectronics. He has a Bachelor of 
Science (BSc) in electronics. At the end of 2006 
Mr. Smedås held 52,788 shares in Kitron ASA. 
Mr. leif t. Smedås is a norwegian citizen.

AlmAnte mediziAusiene
president uAb kitron
Mrs. Almante Mediziausiene (born 1961) is 
president of uAB Kitron. prior to this she was 
Deputy Managing Director of uAB Kitron, and 
earlier she was Managing Director of uAB 
Audiocom. Mrs. Almante Mediziausiene has a 
Doctorate in technical Science and has served 
as Associate professor at Kaunas university of 
technology. Mrs. Almante Mediziausiene is a 
lithuanian citizen.

GArd eliAssen
president kitron sourcing As
Mr. gard eliassen (born 1960) is president of 
Kitron Sourcing AS. Before this he was Sourcing 
Manager of ge Vingmed ASMr. gard eliassen is 
a norwegian citizen.

boarD
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Kitron asa
p o Box 332
no-1326 lysaker, norway
Visiting address:
Fornebuveien 1-3, entrance 2, 2nd floor
tel:  +47 66 10 00 00
Fax: +47 67 10 64 61

Kitron as
Serviceboks 500
no-4809 Arendal, norway
Visiting address:
tangen Allé 39
tel:  +47 37 07 13 00
Fax: +47 37 07 13 01

Kitron as, dept. Development
p o Box 175 Vollebekk
no-0520 oslo, norway
Visiting address:
Hans Møller gasmanns vei 9
tel:  +47 66 10 00 00
Fax: +47 21 60 06 51

Kitron ab
Se-691 80 Karlskoga, Sweden
Visiting address:
Källmossvägen 5
tel:  +46 586 22 20 00
Fax: +46 586 22 22 80

Kitron ab, dept. Development
Se-691 80 Karlskoga, Sweden
Visiting address:
Källmossvägen 5
tel:  +46 586 22 20 00
Fax: +46 586 22 22 80

Kitron flen ab
p o Box 213
Se-642 28 Flen, Sweden
Visiting address:
Öjavägen 14
tel:  +46 157 654 00
Fax: +46 157 109 20

Kitron microelectronics as
Øverhagaen 8
no-7374 røros, norway
tel:  +47 40 00 52 80
Fax: +47 72 40 66 01

Kitron microelectronics ab
p o Box 1052
Se-551 10 Jönköping, Sweden
Visiting address:
Bataljonsgatan 10
tel:  +46 36 290 21 20
Fax: +46 36 290 21 02
 
uab Kitron
taikos 151
lt-52119 Kaunas, lithuania
tel.: +37 03 740 9330 
Fax: +37 03 740 9331

Kitron sourcing as
p o Box 332
no-1326 lysaker, norway
Visiting address:
Fornebuveien 1-3, entrance 2, 2nd floor
tel:  +47 66 10 00 00
Fax: +47 67 10 64 61
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